

DIPLOMARBEIT

Titel der Diplomarbeit

FUGLEDE-KADISON-DETERMINANT ENTROPY FORMULAS AND ISOMORPHISMS OF LATTICE MODELS

angestrebter akademischer Grad

Magister der Naturwissenschaften (Mag. rer.nat.)

Verfasser: Martin Göll

Matrikel-Nummer: 0303446

Studienrichtung (lt. Studienblatt): A 405 Mathematik

Betreuer: O. Univ.-Prof. Dr. Klaus Schmidt

Wien, am 24.08.2010

Danksagung

Mein größter Dank gilt meinem Betreuer Professor Klaus Schmidt. Ich möchte mich bei ihm für das interessante Thema bedanken, das mir einen Einblick in die aktuelle Forschung erlaubt hat und dabei sehr viele Aspekte der Mathematik behandelt - diese Kombination habe ich sehr zu schätzen gelernt. Andererseits möchte ich mich für die stets freundlichen und arbeitsintensiven gemeinsamen Stunden bedanken, in denen viele Fragen geduldig beantwortet sowie neue Themen angesprochen wurden und welche daher wesentlich den Inhalt dieser Arbeit geprägt haben.

Da diese Diplomarbeit auch den Abschluss eines meiner Studien darstellt, möchte ich mich bei meinen Freunden, meinen Studienkollegen und meiner Familie bedanken, die mich während dieser Zeit begleitet und unterstützt haben.

Letztendlich möchte ich der Fakultät für Mathematik für die hervorragenden Studien- und Arbeitsbedingungen danken.

Ich wurde während der Anfertigung dieser Arbeit finanziell durch den FWF (Fonds zur Förderung der wissenschaftlichen Forschung) unterstützt (Projektnummer S 9613).

Abstract

This thesis studies entropies of the following models in the thermodynamic limit: spanning trees and the associated essential spanning forest process, dimer covers, the abelian sandpile model and the harmonic model. These models arise from various fields in mathematics, but all of them can be interpreted as dynamical systems in higher dimensions and as examples from statistical mechanics. Tools of operator theory and harmonic analysis will be used to express entropy as logarithm of the Fuglede-Kadison determinant, which was originally defined on operators in a factor of type II₁. Similar methods (although in a more algebraic setting) will be used to calculate the entropy of expansive actions of discrete residually finite amenable groups by automorphisms of compact abelian groups.

Deutsche Zusammenfassung

Diese Diplomarbeit behandelt die Entropien der folgenden Modelle im thermodynamischen Limes: Spanning Trees und der damit verbundene Essential Spanning Forest Prozess, Dimer Überdeckungen, das Abelsche Sandhäufchen Modell und das Harmonische Modell. Diese Modelle aus verschiedenen Disziplinen der Mathematik können als dynamische Systeme oder als Beispiele aus der statistischen Mechanik interpretiert werden. Methoden aus der Operatoren Theorie und der harmonischen Analysis werden zur Darstellung der Entropie als Logarithmus der Fuglede-Kadison Determinante verwendet, wobei die Fuglede-Kadison Determinante ursprünglich für Operatoren in einem Faktor vom Typ II₁ eingeführt wurde. Ähnliche Methoden werden zur Berechnung der Entropie von expansiven Wirkungen von diskreten, residuell-endlichen, mittelbaren Gruppen durch Automorphismen von kompakten, abelschen Gruppen verwendet; wobei diese Wirkungen auch in einem eigenen Kapitel beschrieben werden.

Contents

In	trod	uction	1
1	Spa	nning Trees	3
	1.1	Basics And The Matrix Tree Theorem	3
	1.2	Tree Entropy	6
	1.3	Fuglede-Kadison-Determinant Entropy Formula I	9
2	Dyr	namical Systems That Are Related To Spanning Trees	17
	2.1	The Essential Spanning Forest Process	17
		2.1.1 Uniform Spanning Forest Measures	17
		2.1.2 The Entropy Of The Essential Spanning Forest Process	19
	2.2	Dimer Model	22
		2.2.1 Connection Between ESFP And Dimer Covers	22
		2.2.2 Uniform Measure Of Maximal Entropy	23
	2.3	Abelian Sandpile Model	24
		2.3.1 Basics	24
		2.3.2 Connection And Entropy	25
		2.3.3 An Infinite Volume Measure For The ASM	26
3	Alg	ebraic Actions	27
	3.1	Introduction	27
	3.2	Entropy	29
	3.3	Fuglede-Kadison-Determinant Entropy Formula II	33
4	The	e Harmonic Model	37
	4.1	Introduction	37
	4.2	Symbolic Cover	39
B	ibliog	graphy	45
C	urric	ulum Vitae	49

Introduction

This introduction outlines the interaction between statistical mechanics and dynamical systems, which allows one to switch between these two theories. This idea will be demonstrated by means of an example from combinatorics.

A dimer cover on the lattice \mathbb{Z}^2 is a subset of edges which covers every vertex exactly once. Two interpretations of this model will be discussed to analyse the complexity of dimer covers:

• Physical interpretation: If one looks at a vertex $\mathbf{n} \in V(\mathbb{Z}^2)$, then there are only four possibilities a dimer can be placed on this vertex. These degrees of freedom will be represented by an alphabet $\{N, E, S, W\}$. A configuration η is a map from \mathbb{Z}^2 to $\{N, E, S, W\}$; with the intuitive picture that every vertex $\mathbf{n} \in V(\mathbb{Z}^2)$ is in one of the four possible states $\{N, E, S, W\}$. Clearly, not every configuration is allowed because it could happen that two dimers lie on the same vertex, which is forbidden by definition. There are infinitely many points in the set \mathcal{A} of allowed configurations and so the entropy per vertex will be introduced to measure the complexity of this system. Let $Q_n(\mathcal{A})$ denote the number of distinguishable quadratic boxes with side length n appearing in the points (or configurations) of \mathcal{A} . The entropy per vertex is defined by

$$\mathbf{h}(\mathcal{A}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\log Q_n(\mathcal{A})}{n^2}$$

and will be interpreted as exponential growth rate of the number of allowed configurations in finite quadratic boxes with side length n as n goes to infinity. Roughly, $Q_n(\mathcal{A})$ grows like $e^{\mathbf{h}(\mathcal{A})n^2}$.

• Dynamical interpretation: The dimer model can be interpreted as a dynamical system by constructing a shift of finite type as follows:

$$\mathcal{A} = \left\{ \eta \in \{N, E, S, W\}^{\mathbb{Z}^2} : \text{ let } \mathbf{n}, \mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \text{ if } \mathbf{m} - \mathbf{n} = (1, 0) \Rightarrow (\eta_{\mathbf{n}}, \eta_{\mathbf{m}}) \notin F_1; \right.$$

$$\text{if } \mathbf{m} - \mathbf{n} = (0, 1) \Rightarrow (\eta_{\mathbf{n}}, \eta_{\mathbf{m}}) \notin F_2 \right\},$$

where

$$F_1 = \{(N, W), (E, N), (E, E), (E, S)(S, W), (W, W)\}$$

and

$$F_2 = \{(N, N), (N, E), (N, W), (S, S), (E, S), (W, S)\}.$$

The shift action σ is defined by $(\sigma^{\mathbf{n}}\eta)_{\mathbf{m}} = \eta_{\mathbf{n}+\mathbf{m}}$, i.e. a translation of the configuration in direction \mathbf{n} . The entropy of this transformation will be defined informally as follows: The distance between $\eta, \eta' \in \mathcal{A}$ is given by 2^{-k} , where k is the largest integer such that $\eta_{[-k,k]^2} = \eta'_{[-k,k]^2}$. Let $B_n := \{\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^2 : \max_{i \in \{0,1\}} m_i \leq n\}$. The orbit segments of two elements $\eta, \eta' \in \mathcal{A}$ are ε -distinguishable if there is a coordinate $\mathbf{m} \in B_n$ such that the distance between $\sigma^{\mathbf{m}}\eta$ and $\sigma^{\mathbf{m}}\eta'$ is at least ε . The value $s(B_n, \varepsilon)$ will denote the number

of ε -different orbit segments with translation vectors in B_n . The quantity

$$\mathbf{h}(\sigma,\varepsilon) := \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{\log s(n,\varepsilon)}{n^2}$$

is the exponential growth rate of the number of ε -distinguishable orbit segments of the dynamical system as n goes to infity. The entropy is defined by

$$\mathbf{h}(\sigma) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbf{h}(\sigma, \varepsilon)$$
.

Since the shift action simply translates configurations, it is clear that this general definition of the dynamical entropy coincides with the definition of entropy given above. In the case of the dimer model (\mathcal{A}, σ) the entropy can be expressed as the exponential growth rate of the number of periodic points. And so one gets

$$\mathbf{h}(\sigma) = \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{\log \operatorname{Fix}_n \sigma}{n^2} \,,$$

where $\operatorname{Fix}_n \sigma = \{ \eta \in \mathcal{A} : \sigma^{\mathbf{m}} \eta = \eta \text{ for every } \mathbf{m} \in B_n \}.$

There are many ways to define entropy, but with the above explanatory notes one should have a better idea what entropy measures. In general there is no easy way to calculate entropy. The aim of this thesis is to study entropies of several models.

In the first chapter the entropy of spanning trees on infinite graphs will be calculated with the help of von Neumann algebras and harmonic analysis. Such methods will be used in the third chapter for expansive algebraic actions, where the commutativity of the symmetry group is no longer required. In both chapters a generalised determinant, the so called Fuglede-Kadison determinant will appear and it will turn out that the logarithm of this determinant is equal to the entropy of these two models.

Entropy has another important feature: if two dynamical systems are isomorphic (in the measure theoretical or topological sense), then their entropies coincide. This property will be used in the second chapter to find the entropy of the abelian sandpile model (when restricting to finite regions the model is isomorphic to the model of spanning trees) and of the dimer model (which is isomorphic to the essential spanning forest process, which is associated to the model of spanning trees).

In the last chapter the abelian sandpile model will appear as a symbolic cover of the so called harmonic model, which is an algebraic dynamical system with a non-expansive action.

At the beginning of each chapter (or section) the main references for the chapter (or section) will be cited without any further comments.

1 Spanning Trees

In this chapter the asymptotics of the number of spanning trees on a graph will be studied. First the Matrix Tree Theorem will be proved. Then a convergence principle for sequences of graphs will be introduced to define the tree entropy, which will be an indicator for the complexity of an infinite graph. Finally, operator algebra methods will be used to find a helpful expression for the tree entropy.

1.1 Basics And The Matrix Tree Theorem

Reference(s): [16, chapter 13] and [25, section 3]

Let G be a graph with countable vertex set V and edge set E. A **loop** is an edge that connects a vertex to itself. A **cycle** is a closed path with no repeated vertices except the starting and ending vertices. Let $x, y \in V$, write $x \sim y$ if x and y are connected by an edge. The **degree** of a vertex $x \in V$ is the number of edges which connect x to vertices in V; this number will be denoted by $\deg_G(x)$ and it is assumed that all degrees are finite. The following matrices are indexed by the vertices of G:

Definition. The **degree matrix** D_G is the diagonal matrix, whose (x, x)-entry is equal to $\deg_G(x)$, for all $x \in V$. The matrix A_G , whose (x, y)-entry is equal to the number of edges connecting x and y, will be called **adjacency matrix**. The matrix difference $D_G - A_G$ is denoted by Δ_G and is called the **graph Laplacian matrix**. The matrix product $P_G := D_G^{-1} \cdot A_G$ is the transition matrix of a Markov chain. This Markov process has state space V and is called the **simple random walk** on G. Let $p^k(x; G)$ denote the probability that the simple random walk on G started at x is back at x after k steps.

A graph H, whose vertex set is a subset of that of G and whose adjacency relation is a subset of that of G restricted to the subset of vertices of H, is called a **subgraph** of G. A subgraph H of G spans G if H has the same vertex set as G. A graph is a **forest** if it has no cycles and is simple (i.e. an undirected graph that has no loops and no more than one edge between any two different vertices). If a forest is connected, i.e. every pair of distinct vertices in the graph can be connected by some path, then the forest is called a **tree**. The **complexity of a graph** G is the number of spanning trees and is denoted by $\tau(G)$. The **entropy of a finite graph** G is given by $\log \tau(G)$ and will serve as a measure for the complexity.

The Matrix Tree Theorem leads to an easy calculation of the number of spanning trees of a graph G. Some definitions are necessary to formulate and prove the Matrix Tree Theorem: Let G be a graph, x and y vertices in V and e an edge in E connecting x and y. The graph $G \setminus e$ is obtained by deleting the edge e ($V(G \setminus e) = V(G)$, $E(G \setminus e) = E(G) \setminus e$). The graph G/e is constructed by identifying x and y and then deleting e. If z is a vertex which is connected to both x and y, then multiple edges will occur between z and the new identified vertex. If there are multiple edges between x and y, then they will become loops on the new identified vertex. Let M be a symmetric matrix and $x \in V$; the submatrix M[x] is obtained by deleting the rows and columns indexed by x.

Theorem 1.1. (Matrix Tree Theorem): Let G be a graph with Laplacian matrix Δ_G . If x is an arbitrary vertex of G, then $\tau(G) = \det \Delta_G[x]$.

Proof: Induction on the number of edges of G:

- base case: |E(G)| = 0:
 - If |V(G)| = 1, then G has one spanning tree and $\Delta_G[x]$, $x \in V$, is a 0×0 -matrix the empty-matrix, which by convention has determinant 1.
 - If |V(G)| > 1, then G has no spanning tree and $\Delta_G[x]$ is an all-zero matrix of order at least 1 which has determinant 0.
- inductive step: |E(G)| > 0:

If e is an edge of G, then every spanning tree either contains e or does not contain e. There is a one-to-one correspondence between spanning trees of G that contain e and spanning trees of G/e. On the other hand any spanning tree of G which does not contain e is a spanning tree of $G \setminus e$. Therefore,

$$\tau(G) = \tau(G/e) + \tau(G\backslash e)$$

(In this situation multiple edges are retained during contraction and loops are ignored because they cannot occur in a spanning tree).

Let e be an edge connecting x and y and M be the $n \times n$ diagonal matrix with M_{yy} equal to 1, and all other entries equal to 0. Then

$$\Delta_G[x] = \Delta_{G \setminus e}[x] + M$$

from which

$$\det \Delta_G[x] = \det \Delta_{G \setminus e}[x] + \det \Delta_{G \setminus e}[x][y]$$

is deduced by substituting the term $(\Delta_G[x])_{yy}$ by $(\Delta_G[x])_{yy}-1+1$ in the Laplace expansion of det $\Delta_G[x]$. The first two terms of this expression lead to the first term on the right hand side and the third term leads to the second term $(\Delta_{G\backslash e}[x][y] = \Delta_G[x][y])$.

The graph G/e will be formed by contracting x onto y, so that $V(G/e) = V(G)\backslash x$; this preference was chosen because x is the vertex which should be eliminated. Then $\Delta_{G/e}[y]$ has rows and columns indexed by $V(G)\backslash \{x,y\}$ with the uv-entry being equal to $(\Delta_G)_{uv}$; and so one has that $\Delta_{G/e}[y] = \Delta_G[x][y]$. The formula above can be rewritten as

$$\det \Delta_G[x] = \det \Delta_{G \setminus e}[x] + \det \Delta_{G/e}[y].$$

By induction hypothesis,
$$\det \Delta_{G \setminus e}[x] = \tau(G \setminus e)$$
 and $\det \Delta_{G/e}[y] = \tau(G/e)$; hence $\det \Delta_{G}[x] = \tau(G)$.

If A and B are square $n \times n$ matrices and S a subset of $\{1, \ldots, n\}$, then let A_S be the matrix obtained by replacing the rows of A indexed by elements of S with the corresponding rows of B $(A_{\emptyset} = A)$. It can be easily seen that

$$\det(A+B) = \sum_{S \subseteq \{1,\dots,n\}} \det A_S,$$

by looking at the Leibniz formula of $\det(A+B)$ and expanding products and reorder sums. By applying this to A-tI, it is deduced that the coefficient of t^{n-k} in $\det(A-tI)$ is $(-1)^k$ times the sum of the determinants of the principal $k \times k$ submatrices of A.

Theorem 1.2. Suppose that G is a finite connected graph with n vertices. Then

$$\log \tau(G) = -\log(2|\operatorname{E}(G)|) + \sum_{x \in \operatorname{V}(G)} \log \deg_G(x) - \sum_{k \geq 1} \frac{1}{k} \left(\sum_{x \in \operatorname{V}(G)} p^k(x;G) - 1 \right).$$

Proof: First, the following identity will be proved:

$$\tau(G) = \frac{\prod_{x \in V(G)} \deg_G(x)}{\sum_{x \in V(G)} \deg_G(x)} \det'(I - P_G), \qquad (1.1)$$

where det' M denotes the product of the nonzero eigenvalues of a matrix M. Let $\phi(t) = \det ((I - P_G) - tI)$ be the characteristic polynomial of $(I - P_G)$. The zeros of $\phi(t)$ are the eigenvalues of $I - P_G$. Since $\lambda_1 = 0$, the constant term of the characteristic polynomial is zero and the coefficient of t is

$$(-1)^{n-1} \prod_{i=2}^{n} \lambda_i = (-1)^{n-1} \det'(I - P_G).$$

On the other hand, by the remark just above the theorem the coefficient of the linear term in $\phi(t)$ is

$$(-1)^{n-1} \sum_{x \in V(G)} \det \left((I - P_G)[x] \right).$$

The term $(I - P_G)$ is equal to $D_G^{-1}(D_G - A_G)$ and the fact that D_G^{-1} is a diagonal matrix will be used to get

$$\sum_{x \in V(G)} \det \left((I - P_G)[x] \right) = \sum_{x \in V(G)} \det \left(D_G^{-1}(D_G - A_G)[x] \right)$$
$$= \sum_{x \in V(G)} \det \left(D_G^{-1}[x] \right) \det \left((D_G - A_G)[x] \right).$$

Now using the Matrix-Tree-Theorem 1.1 in the last term yields to

$$\sum_{x \in V(G)} \det \left((I - P_G)[x] \right) = \tau(G) \cdot \sum_{x \in V(G)} \det \left(D_G^{-1}[x] \right) = \tau(G) \cdot \sum_{x \in V(G)} \frac{1}{\prod_{y \in V(G) \setminus x} \deg_G(y)}$$
$$= \tau(G) \cdot \frac{\sum_{x \in V(G)} \deg_G(x)}{\prod_{x \in V(G)} \deg_G(x)}.$$

The identity follows immediately from the last equation and

$$\det'(I - P_G) = \sum_{x \in V(G)} \det ((I - P_G)[x]).$$

From (1.1) and the fact that the sum of the degrees of a graph equals twice the number of its edges one gets that

$$\log \tau(G) = -\log (2|\operatorname{E}(G)|) + \sum_{x \in \operatorname{V}(G)} \log \operatorname{deg}_G(x) + \log \operatorname{det}'(I - P_G).$$

Let Λ be the multiset of eigenvalues of P_G other than 1 (with multiplicities). Since $\Lambda \subset [-1,1)$,

$$\log \det'(I - P_G) = \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda} \log(1 - \lambda) = -\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda} \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{\lambda^k}{k} = -\sum_{k \ge 1} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda} \frac{\lambda^k}{k} = -\sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{\operatorname{tr} P_G^k - 1}{k}.$$

In the last step the following facts were used: (1) The eigenvalue 1 of P has multiplicity 1 since G is connected and (2) the trace is similarity invariant. The formula now follows from $\operatorname{tr} P_G^k = \sum_{x \in V(G)} p^k(x; G)$.

1.2 Tree Entropy

Reference(s): [7, section 1] and [25, section 3]

Definition. A graph homomorphism $\varphi: G_1 \to G_2$ from one graph $G_1 = (V_1, E_1)$ to another $G_2 = (V_2, E_2)$ is a pair of maps $\varphi_V: V_1 \to V_2$ and $\varphi_E: E_1 \to E_2$ such that φ_V maps the endpoints of e to the endpoints of $\varphi_E(e)$, for every edge $e \in E_1$. If both maps φ_V and φ_E are bijections, then φ is called a graph isomorphism.

To define the limit of a sequence of graphs it is necessary to keep an eye on a base point, which will be called the root.

Definition. A **rooted graph** (G, o) is a graph G with a distinguished vertex o of G, called the root. A **rooted isomorphism** of rooted graphs is an isomorphism of the underlying graphs that maps the root of one graph to the root of the other graph. Let \mathcal{G}_{\bullet} denote the set of rooted isomorphism classes of rooted connected locally finite graphs.

Next define the following metric on \mathcal{G}_{\bullet} . Let $(G, o), (G', o') \in \mathcal{G}_{\bullet}$ and denote, for all $r \in \mathbb{N}$ with r > 0, by $B_G(o, r)$ the closed ball of radius r about the root, i.e. the union of all minimal paths on G starting at o of length less or equal to r. Let k be the supremum of all r such that there exists a rooted isomorphism between $B_G(o, r)$ and $B_{G'}(o', r)$. A metric δ on \mathcal{G}_{\bullet} can now be defined by setting $\delta((G, o), (G', o')) = 2^{-k}$. This metric induces a topology on \mathcal{G}_{\bullet} , which induces a Borel σ -algebra \mathcal{S} on \mathcal{G}_{\bullet} .

Now let R be a positive integer, H be a finite rooted graph, and ρ a probability distribution on $(\mathcal{G}_{\bullet}, \mathcal{S})$. Then let $p(R, H, \rho)$ denote the probability that H is rooted isomorphic to the ball of radius R about the root of a graph chosen with distribution ρ . If (G, ρ) is a fixed graph with probability distribution ρ on its vertices, then ρ induces naturally a distribution on rooted graphs (also denoted by ρ), i.e. the probability of (G, x) is $\rho(x)$. For a finite graph G, let U(G) denote the distribution of rooted graphs obtained by choosing a uniform random vertex of G as root of G.

The concept of random weak convergence is as follows:

Definition. Let (G_n) be a sequence of finite graphs with distributions $U(G_n)$ and ρ a probability measure on rooted infinite graphs (possibly induced by a probability distribution on the vertices of a fixed infinite graph). If $\lim_{n\to\infty} p(R,H,U(G_n)) = p(R,H,\rho)$, for any positive integer R and any finite rooted graph H, then ρ is called the **random weak limit** of (G_n) . If ρ is induced by a distribution on the vertices of a fixed transitive graph G, then the random weak limit only depends on G and not on the root. In this case the random weak limit of (G_n) will be denoted by G.

Remark 1.3. The name and concept of this convergence principal become clearer if one compares it with the concept of weak convergence; because the random weak limit ρ can be seen as the law of (G, o) and being the weak limit of the law of (G_n, o_n) as $n \to \infty$. But one should have in mind that random weak convergence on $(\mathcal{G}_{\bullet}, \mathcal{S})$ is a local concept because only neighbourhoods around the root are regarded. This definition can be generalised by requiring only convergence in probability. The convergence to ρ only depends on the component of the root, so it is wise to demand that ρ concentrates on connected graphs.

Example. Let Γ be a group with a given generating set S and let $l(\Gamma)$ denote the length of the smallest reduced word in the generating elements that represents the identity. Suppose that Γ_n are finite groups, each generated by s elements, such that $\lim_{n\to\infty} l(\Gamma_n) = \infty$. Then the Cayley graphs G_n of Γ_n have a random weak limit equal to the usual Cayley graph G of the free group Γ on s letters, i.e. the regular tree of degree 2s.

Definition. The **expected degree** of a probability measure ρ on rooted graphs is given by

$$\overline{\deg}(\rho) := \int \deg_G(x) \, d\rho(G, x) \, .$$

When the following integral converges, define the **tree entropy** of ρ by

$$\mathbf{h}(\rho) := \int \left(\log \deg_G(x) - \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{p^k(x; G)}{k} \right) d\rho(G, x). \tag{1.2}$$

If ρ is induced by a fixed transitive graph G of degree d, then the tree entropy can be written as

$$\mathbf{h}(G) := \mathbf{h}(\rho) = \log d - \sum_{k>1} \frac{p^k(o; G)}{k},$$

where o is any vertex of G.

The main theorem of this section, which will be proved with the help of several lemmas, suggests thinking of $\mathbf{h}(\rho)$ as a sequence of entropies per vertex of finite graphs.

Theorem 1.4. If G_n are finite connected graphs with bounded average degree whose random weak limit is a probability measure ρ on infinite rooted graphs, then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{|V(G_n)|} \log \tau(G_n) = \mathbf{h}(\rho).$$

Lemma 1.5. Let P be a transition matrix of a Markov chain. For $\alpha \in [0,1)$, define the transition matrix $Q := \alpha I + (1-\alpha)P$. For a state x, let $p^k(x)$ and $q^k(x)$ denote the return probabilities to x after k steps when the Markov chain starts at x, where the transition matrices are P and Q, respectively. Then

$$\sum_{k} \frac{q^{k}(x)}{k} = -\log(1-\alpha) + \sum_{k} \frac{p^{k}(x)}{k}.$$

Proof: Let (\cdot, \cdot) denote the standard inner product on $\ell^2(V)$. For $x \in V$ and $z \in (0, 1)$, one gets

$$\begin{split} \sum_k \frac{q^k(x)z^k}{k} &= -\left(\left[\log(I-zQ)\right]\mathbf{1}_{\{x\}},\mathbf{1}_{\{x\}}\right) = -\left(\left[\log\left((1-z\alpha)I-z(1-\alpha)P\right)\right]\mathbf{1}_{\{x\}},\mathbf{1}_{\{x\}}\right) \\ &= -\left(\left[\log\left(I-\frac{z(1-\alpha)}{1-z\alpha}P\right)\right]\mathbf{1}_{\{x\}},\mathbf{1}_{\{x\}}\right) - \log(1-z\alpha)(\mathbf{1}_{\{x\}},\mathbf{1}_{\{x\}}) \\ &= -\log(1-z\alpha) + \sum_k \frac{p^k(x)}{k} \left(\frac{z(1-\alpha)}{1-z\alpha}\right)^k. \end{split}$$

The first equation follows by expressing the logarithm as integral of a geometric series. The lemma follows now by letting $z \uparrow 1$.

Definition. A Markov chain is said to be **reversible** if there is a measure π such that $\pi(x)p(x,y) = \pi(y)p(y,x)$, for all states x and y.

Lemma 1.6. [25, Lemma 3.4] Suppose that Q is a transition matrix of a Markov chain that is reversible with respect to a positive finite measure π (π will always be normalised to be a probability measure).

Setting $a := \inf_x Q(x, x) > 0$ and $c := \inf\{\pi(x)Q(x, y); x \neq y \text{ and } Q(x, y) > 0\} > 0$, then, for all states x and all $k \geq 0$, the following estimate holds

$$\left| \frac{Q^k(x,x)}{\pi(x)} - 1 \right| \le \min \left\{ \frac{1}{ac\sqrt{k+1}}, \frac{1}{2a^2c^2(k+1)} \right\}.$$

Lemma 1.7. Suppose that Y_n are real-valued random variables that converge in distribution to Y and that $\sup_n \mathbf{E}[|Y_n|] < \infty$. Then for all continuous functions $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $\lim_{|x| \to \infty} |f(x)|/|x| = 0$ one gets $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbf{E}[f(Y_n)] = \mathbf{E}[f(Y)]$.

Proof: The given assumptions imply that $f(Y_n)$ form a uniformly integrable set of random variables. The continuity of f ensures that $f(Y_n)$ converge in distribution to f(Y). The conclusion follows by combining the last two statements.

Proof of Theorem 1.4: First, new graphs G'_n will be constructed by adding $\deg_G(x)$ loops at the vertex x, for all $x \in G_n$. If P_n is the transition matrix of G_n , then $Q_n := (I + P_n)/2$ is the transition matrix of G'_n . A consequence of this construction is that $Q_n(x,x) > 0$, for every $x \in G_n$ and so $\inf_{x \in V} Q_n(x,x) > 0$; the latter inequality is a necessary condition for Lemma 1.6. The random weak limit of G'_n is ρ' , where ρ' is obtained from ρ by doubling the degree of each vertex by adding loops. Lemma 1.5 implies that $\mathbf{h}(\rho) = \mathbf{h}(\rho')$ by just looking at the definition of \mathbf{h} . Since $\tau(G_n) = \tau(G'_n)$, it suffices to show that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{|V(G'_n)|} \log \tau(G'_n) = \mathbf{h}(\rho').$$

Now let d be an upper bound for the average degree of G'_n , i.e. for all n,

$$2|\operatorname{E}(G'_n)| \le d|\operatorname{V}(G'_n)|, \tag{1.3}$$

so that $|V(G'_n)|^{-1}\log(2|E(G'_n)|) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Since the degree of a random vertex in G'_n converges in distribution to the degree of the root under ρ' , it follows by Lemma 1.7 (with $f := \log^+$ and Y_n to be the degree of a uniform vertex in G'_n) that

$$\frac{1}{|V(G'_n)|} \sum_{x \in V(G'_n)} \log \deg_{G'_n}(x) \to \int \log \deg_G(x) d\rho'(G, x).$$

Now looking at the conclusion of Theorem 1.2 the last step is to show that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{1}{|V(G'_n)|} \frac{1}{k} \left(\sum_{x \in V(G'_n)} p^k(x; G'_n) - 1 \right) = \int \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{1}{k} p^k(x; G'_n) \, d\rho'(G, x) \, .$$

By definition and the requirement of the theorem, for every k, the following equation holds:

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{|V(G'_n)|} \left(\sum_{x \in V(G'_n)} p^k(x; G'_n) - 1 \right) = \int p^k(x; G'_n) \, d\rho'(G, x) \, .$$

Hence, by Lemma 1.6 applied to G'_n with stationary probability measure $x \mapsto \deg_{G'_n}(x)/(2|\operatorname{E}(G'_n)|)$ and constants $a \ge 1/2$, $c \ge 1/(4|\operatorname{E}(G'_n)|)$; and by (1.3) one gets

$$\left| \frac{1}{|V(G'_n)|} \right| \sum_{x \in V(G'_n)} p^k(x; G'_n) - 1 \le \frac{4d}{\sqrt{k+1}}.$$

Weierstrass's M-test justifies the interchange of limit and summation and so the statement of the theorem is proved. \Box

1.3 Fuglede-Kadison-Determinant Entropy Formula I

Reference(s): [1, section 5], [2, section 5.2], [11], [25, section 4] and [26]

For a weighted graph some definitions must be extended: Therefor, let $w : \mathcal{E}(G) \to [0, \infty)$ be a weight function, then the new graph Laplacian is defined as follows:

$$\Delta_G(x,y) := \begin{cases} -\sum_{e \in E_1(x,y)} w(e) & \text{if } x \neq y \text{ with } E_1(x,y) := \{e : e \text{ is an edge between } x \text{ and } y\} \\ \sum_{e \in E_2^x} w(e) & \text{if } x = y \text{ with } E_2^x := \{e : e \text{ is incident to } x \text{ and not a loop}\}. \end{cases}$$

Assuming $\Delta_G(x,x) < \infty$ for all x; the associated random walk has the transition probability from x to y of $-\Delta_G(x,y)/\Delta_G(x,x)$. Finally, the tree entropy becomes

$$\mathbf{h}(\rho) := \int \left(\log \Delta_G(o, o) - \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{p^k(o; G)}{k} \right) d\rho(G, o).$$

Let \mathcal{G}_* denote the set of rooted isomorphism classes of rooted weighted connected locally finite graphs. Let $\tilde{G} = (G, o; v) \in \tilde{\mathcal{G}}_* = \mathcal{G}_* \times V$ be a **rooted graph with a distinguished directed edge**, where v is a neighbour of the root o of G. Next define the following involution $\iota : \tilde{\mathcal{G}}_* \to \tilde{\mathcal{G}}_*$, which maps \tilde{G} to $\iota(\tilde{G})$; this is the same graph but with reversed directed edge. And so v can be interpreted as new root and o as new distinguished neighbour. Let ρ be any measure on \mathcal{G}_* . Now define a new measure $\tilde{\mu}$ on $\tilde{\mathcal{G}}_*$ by (1) taking the marginal measure of $\tilde{\mu}$ on \mathcal{G}_* to be μ and by (2) taking the conditional measure $\tilde{\mu}_G$ on the neighbours of the root of G to be the counting measure.

Definition. A probability measure μ on \mathcal{G}_* is called **unimodular** if the induced measure $\tilde{\mu}$ is involution invariant, i.e.

$$\tilde{\mu}(A) = \tilde{\mu}(\iota^{-1}(A))$$
 for all Borel subsets $A \subseteq \tilde{\mathcal{G}}_*$.

If a graph G was randomly chosen, then let $p_G(o)$ be the probability that o is the root of G. The marginal measure $\tilde{\mu}_G$ puts mass $p_G(o)$ on the edge ov and mass $p_G(v)$ on the edge vo. Involution invariance implies that $p_G(o) = p_G(v)$. Clearly, if the graph G is connected, then $p_G(\cdot)$ is constant on G and so the concept of unimodularity means that every vertex is equally likely to be chosen as root.

Theorem 1.8. [1, Proposition 2.2] Let \mathcal{G}_{**} the space of isomorphism classes of weighted locally finite connected graphs with an ordered pair of distinguished vertices. Let ρ be a probability measure on \mathcal{G}_{*} . The measure ρ is unimodular if and only if

$$\int \sum_{x \in V(G)} f(G, o, x) d\rho(G, o) = \int \sum_{x \in V(G)} f(G, x, o) d\rho(G, o),$$

for all measurable functions $f: \mathcal{G}_{**} \to [0, \infty)$ that are invariant under isomorphisms, i.e. $f(\phi(G), \phi(o), \phi(x)) = f(G, o, x)$ for all graph-isomorphisms.

In [2, Chapter 5] or [7, Section 3.2] it was shown that the weak limit of unimodular measures is again a unimodular measure. In the definition of random weak limits only sequences of finite graphs with uniformly distributed roots occur and so random weak limits are always unimodular.

Definition. Let H be a Hilbert space. A set of vectors $(v_i)_{i \in I}$ in H is a quasi-orthonormal basis if the non-zero elements of the set form an orthonormal basis of H.

Let (X, S, μ) be a measure space. A **Hilbert bundle** over X is a family of Hilbert spaces $(H_x)_{x \in X}$ and a family of maps $v_i : X \to \bigsqcup_{x \in X} H_x$ with $v_i(x) \in H_x$, such that for each $x \in X$ the family $(v_i(x))$ is a quasi-orthonormal basis of H_x , and for each $i \in I$ the set of all $x \in X$ with $v_i(x) = 0$ is measurable.

Definition. A section is a map $s: X \to \bigsqcup_{x \in X} H_x$ with $s(x) \in H_x$, for every $x \in X$. A section is a **measurable section** if for every $j \in I$ the function $x \mapsto \langle s(x), v_j(x) \rangle$ is measurable on X, and there exists a countable set $I_s \subset I$, such that the function $x \mapsto \langle s(x), v_j(x) \rangle$ vanishes identically for every $i \notin I_s$. A measurable section s is called a **nullsection** if it vanishes outside a set of measure zero.

The **direct integral** is the vector space of all measurable sections s, which satisfy

$$||s||^2 := \int_X ||s(x)||^2 d\mu(x) < \infty,$$

modulo the space of nullsections and will be denoted by

$$H = \int_X^{\oplus} H_x \, d\mu(x) \, .$$

One can show that this space is a Hilbert space with inner product

$$\langle s, t \rangle = \int_{X} \langle s(x), t(x) \rangle d\mu(x).$$

Let ρ be a unimodular probability measure on rooted weighted graphs.

Choose the canonical representative for each weighted graph, i.e. a graph with $V(G) = \mathbb{N}$. Let $H := \int^{\oplus} \ell^2(V(G)) d\rho(G, o)$ be a direct integral, this is the set of ρ -equivalence classes of ρ measurable functions f defined on canonical rooted graphs (G, o) that satisfy $f_{(G,o)} \in \ell^2(V(G))$ and $\int ||f_{(G,o)}|| d\rho(G,o) < \infty$, which will be denoted by $f = \int^{\oplus} f_{(G,o)} d\rho(G,o)$. Let $T: (G,o) \mapsto T_{G,o}$ be a measurable mapping of bounded linear operators on $\ell^2(V(G)) = \ell^2(\mathbb{N})$ with finite supremum of the norms $||T_{G,o}||$. Then T induces a bounded linear operator $T: T^{\rho} := \int^{\oplus} T_{(G,o)} d\rho(G,o)$ on $T^{\rho} := \int^{\oplus} T_{(G,o)} d\rho(G,o)$ on $T^{\rho} := \int^{\oplus} T_{(G,o)} d\rho(G,o)$ on $T^{\rho} := \int^{\oplus} T_{(G,o)} d\rho(G,o)$

$$T^{\rho}: \int^{\oplus} f_{(G,o)} d\rho(G,o) \mapsto \int^{\oplus} T_{G,o} f_{(G,o)} d\rho(G,o).$$

The norm $||T^{\rho}||$ of T^{ρ} is the ρ -essential supremum of $||T_{G,\rho}||$.

A graph isomorphism ϕ induces an operator $\Phi: H \to H$. Since ρ is unimodular one gets

$$\langle \Phi f, \Phi g \rangle = \int \langle \Phi_{(G,o)} f_{(G,o)}, \Phi_{(G,o)} g_{(G,o)} \rangle \, d\rho(G,o) = \int \langle f_{(G,o)}, g_{(G,o)} \rangle \, d\rho(G,o) = \langle f, g \rangle \, .$$

And so Φ is an isometry (and therefore bounded) and clearly the range of Φ is dense in H; whence Φ is unitary. Let **Alg** be the commutant of the set

 $\mathcal{U} = \{ \Phi \in B(H) : \Phi \text{ is an operator induced by a graph isomorphism } \phi \},$

i.e.

$$\mathbf{Alg} := \mathcal{U}' = \{ T \in B(H) : T\Phi = \Phi T \text{ for all } \Phi \in \mathcal{U} \}.$$

The set of operators **Alg** coincides with its bi-commutant. Therefore, **Alg** is the von Neumann algebra (i.e. a subalgebra of B(H) which is closed under * and which is equal to its double commutant) of such (ρ -equivalence classes of) operators T that are equivariant in the sense that for all isomorphisms $\varphi: G_1 \to G_2$ and all $o_1, x, y \in V(G_1)$ and all $o_2 \in V(G_2)$: $(T_{G_1,o_1}\mathbf{1}_{\{x\}},\mathbf{1}_{\{y\}}) = (T_{G_2,o_2}\mathbf{1}_{\{\varphi x\}},\mathbf{1}_{\{\varphi y\}})$. This property induces that $T_{G,o}$ does not depend on the root o.

Theorem 1.9. Let ρ be a unimodular measure and $T \in Alg$, then

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\rho}(T) := \mathbf{E}\left[(T_G \mathbf{1}_{\{o\}}, \mathbf{1}_{\{o\}}) \right] := \int (T_G \mathbf{1}_{\{o\}}, \mathbf{1}_{\{o\}}) \, d\rho(G, o)$$

is a trace on Alg.

Proof: If $T \in \mathbf{Alg}$ and $T \geq 0$, then $\mathrm{Tr}(T) \geq 0$ because the integrand is non-negative for $T \geq 0$. The linearity of $\mathrm{Tr}(.)$ follows from the linearity of the inner product and the integral. At last $\mathrm{Tr}(TS) = \mathrm{Tr}(ST)$ must be proved for $S, T \in \mathbf{Alg}$:

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Tr}_{\rho}(TS) &= \mathbf{E}\left[(S\mathbf{1}_{\{o\}}, T^*\mathbf{1}_{\{o\}}) \right] = \mathbf{E}\left[\sum_{x \in V(G)} (S\mathbf{1}_{\{o\}}, \mathbf{1}_{\{x\}}) (\mathbf{1}_{\{x\}}, T^*\mathbf{1}_{\{o\}}) \right] \\ &= \mathbf{E}\left[\sum_{x \in V(G)} (S\mathbf{1}_{\{o\}}, \mathbf{1}_{\{x\}}) (T\mathbf{1}_{\{x\}}, \mathbf{1}_{\{o\}}) \right] = \mathbf{E}\left[\sum_{x \in V(G)} (S\mathbf{1}_{\{x\}}, \mathbf{1}_{\{o\}}) (T\mathbf{1}_{\{o\}}, \mathbf{1}_{\{x\}}) \right] \\ &= \mathbf{E}\left[\sum_{x \in V(G)} (T\mathbf{1}_{\{o\}}, \mathbf{1}_{\{x\}}) (\mathbf{1}_{\{x\}}, S^*\mathbf{1}_{\{o\}}) \right] = \operatorname{Tr}_{\rho}(ST) \,. \end{aligned}$$

The unimodularity property of the measure can be used because of absolute integrability:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}\left[(TS\mathbf{1}_{\{o\}}, \mathbf{1}_{\{o\}}) \right] &\leq \left(\mathbf{E}\left[\sum_{x \in V(G)} |(S\mathbf{1}_{\{o\}}, \mathbf{1}_{\{x\}})|^2 \right] \mathbf{E}\left[\sum_{x \in V(G)} |(\mathbf{1}_{\{x\}}, T^*\mathbf{1}_{\{o\}})|^2 \right] \right)^{1/2} \\ &= \left(\mathbf{E}\left[\|S\mathbf{1}_{\{o\}}\|^2 \right] \mathbf{E}[\|T^*\mathbf{1}_{\{o\}}\|^2] \right)^{1/2} \leq \|S\|\|T\| < \infty \end{split}$$

Here the identities above and the Cauchy-Schwarz-inequality for expectation values were used.

Definition. Let VNA be a von Neumann algebra and

$$VNA_+ := \{ T \in VNA : T \text{ is self-adjoint and } T \ge 0 \}.$$

Let tr be a trace on VNA₊. The trace tr is called **faithful** if tr(T) = 0 implies T = 0. The trace is said to be **semifinite** if, for any $0 \neq S \in \text{VNA}_+$, there is a $0 \neq T \in \text{VNA}_+$ with $T \leq S$ such that $tr(T) < \infty$. If the trace tr fulfils

$$\operatorname{tr}(\sup_{i} T_{i}) = \sup_{i} \operatorname{tr}(T_{i})$$

for any bounded increasing net (T_i) of VNA₊, then tr is called a **normal** trace.

A von Neumann algebra with a faithful, finite and normal trace will be called **finite**. Clearly, the von Neumann algebra **Alg** with trace Tr is finite. Next a larger class of operators will be defined and the definition of the trace will be extended to this larger class of operators. Therefor, the following definitions for unbounded operators will be recalled:

11

Let X, Y be two Hilbert spaces and let $T: X \to Y$ be an unbounded linear operator. The operator T is said to be **densely-defined** if its domain Dom(T) is a dense subset of X. If the graph of T, this is the set $Graph(T) := \{(x, Tx) \in X \times Y : x \in Dom(T)\}$, is a closed subset of $X \times Y$, then T is called **closed** in X. An operator T' **extends** T, which will be written as $T \subseteq T'$, when $Dom(T) \subseteq Dom(T')$ and T'x = Tx for all $x \in Dom(T)$. The operator T is said to be **closable** if the closure of the graph of T is the graph of another operator T. The operator T will be called **closure** of T. A densely defined operator T is **symmetric** if $\langle Tx, y \rangle = \langle x, Ty \rangle$ for all $x, y \in Dom(T)$. The **adjoint** T^* of a densely-defined operator T is defined as follows. Its domain consists of those elements T0 such that for some element T1 is said to be **self-adjoint** if T2 and T3 and T3 and T4 and T5 and T5 are T6. The operator T7 is said to be **self-adjoint** if T6 and T7 and T7 and T8 and T9 and T8 and T8 and T8 are T9 and T8 and T8 and T9 and T8 and T9 and T8 and T9 and T8 and T9 and T9 and T8 are T9 and T9 and T9 and T9 and T9 and T9 and T9 are T9.

Let $\overline{\mathbf{Alg}}$ be the set of closed densely-defined operators that are affiliated with \mathbf{Alg} , i.e. those closed densely-defined operators that commute with all unitary operators that commute with \mathbf{Alg} .

The Laplacian Δ_G induces an operator

$$f \mapsto \left(x \mapsto \sum_{y \in V} \Delta_G(x, y) f(y)\right)$$

for functions f on V with finite support. This operator extends by continuity to a bounded linear operator on all of $\ell^2(V)$ when $\sup_x \Delta_G(x,x) < \infty$. If

$$\rho - \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{G,o} \sup_{x \in V(G)} \Delta_G(x,x) < \infty,$$

then $(G, o) \mapsto \Delta_G$ defines an operator in **Alg**. If such a uniform bound does not exist, then proceed as follows. Let

$$\mathcal{D}_0 := \{ f \in H : |\operatorname{supp} f_{G,o}| < \infty , \text{ for all } (G,o) \}.$$

The operator Δ is defined on the dense subspace \mathcal{D}_0 , where it is symmetric. Let D be the diagonal weighted degree operator on \mathcal{D}_0 , i.e. $D_G(x,x) := \Delta_G(x,x)$ and $D_G(x,y) := 0$ for $x \neq y$. Its closure \overline{D} is symmetric and affiliated with \mathbf{Alg} and so \overline{D} is self-adjoint by the following theorem:

Theorem 1.10. [20, Exercise 6.9.53] and [19, Solution 6.9.53]

Let S be a symmetric operator affiliated with a finite von Neumann algebra. Then S is self-adjoint.

Define $\delta := \overline{D}(I - P)$; since $\overline{D} \in \overline{\mathbf{Alg}}$ and $I - P \in \mathbf{Alg}$, it follows that $\delta \in \overline{\mathbf{Alg}}$. It will be shown that Δ is closable and $\delta = \overline{\Delta}$. An easy calculation shows that δ and Δ agree on \mathcal{D}_0 and so δ extends Δ . The operator δ is closed, whence Δ is closable. Since $\overline{\Delta}$ is symmetric and affiliated with \mathbf{Alg} , it is self-adjoint by Theorem 1.10. The next theorem guarantees that $\overline{\Delta}$ and δ are equal.

Theorem 1.11. [20, Exercise 6.9.54] and [19, Solution 6.9.54]

Let A and B be operators affiliated with a finite von Neumann algebra. Suppose $A \subseteq B$, then A = B.

Since **Alg** is a finite von Neumann algebra and $\overline{\Delta} \subseteq \delta$, it follows that $\overline{\Delta} = \delta$. For the remainder of this section D and Δ will also denote the closures of D and Δ .

Definition. Let H be a Hilbert space B(H) the algebra of bounded linear operators on H and (X, \mathcal{S}) a measurable space. A **spectral measure** on X is a function $E: \mathcal{S} \to B(H)$ such that

- 1. E(S) is a projection in B(H), for every $S \in \mathcal{S}$ and $E(\emptyset) = 0$.
- 2. E(X) = I, where I denotes the identity operator in B(H).
- 3. If $S_1 \cap S_2 = \emptyset$ with $S_1, S_2 \in \mathcal{S}$, then $E(S_1)$ and $E(S_2)$ are orthogonal.
- 4. $E(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} S_n) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} E(S_n)$ for every sequence (S_n) of disjoint sets in S.

Let $T \in \overline{\mathbf{Alg}}$ be a self-adjoint operator. The operator T has a polar decomposition

$$T = U \int_0^\infty \lambda \, dE_{|T|}(\lambda)$$

by [20, Theorem 6.1.11], where $U \in \mathbf{Alg}$ is unitary and $E_{|T|}$ is a spectral measure. Define the measure $\mu_{\rho,|T|}$ by

$$\mu_{\rho,|T|}(B) := \operatorname{Tr}_{\rho}\left(E_{|T|}(B)\right)$$

for Borel subsets $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}$. The trace Tr will be extended by

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\rho}(T) := \int_{0}^{\infty} \lambda \, d\mu_{\rho,|T|}(\lambda)$$

for positive operators $T \in \overline{\mathbf{Alg}}$ and then by linearity to all of $\overline{\mathbf{Alg}}$ when it makes sense. Write $\widetilde{\mathbf{Alg}}$ for the set of $T \in \overline{\mathbf{Alg}}$ for which

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\rho}(\log^{+}|T|) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \log^{+} \lambda \, d\mu_{\rho,|T|}(\lambda) < \infty.$$

For $T \in \widetilde{\mathbf{Alg}}$, define its **Fuglede-Kadison determinant** by

$$\operatorname{Det}(T) := \operatorname{Det}_{\rho}(T) := \exp \int_{0}^{\infty} \log \lambda \, d\mu_{\rho,|T|}(\lambda) \in [0,\infty) \,.$$

Theorem 1.12. If ρ is a unimodular probability measure on rooted connected infinite weighted graphs with

$$\int \log D_G(o, o) \, d\rho(G, o) \in [-\infty, \infty), \qquad (1.4)$$

then

$$\mathbf{h}(\rho) = \log \mathrm{Det}\Delta \in [-\infty, \infty) \,. \tag{1.5}$$

Proof: The hypothesis is equivalent to $D \in \widetilde{\mathbf{Alg}}$. Since $I - P \in \mathbf{Alg} \subseteq \widetilde{\mathbf{Alg}}$, it follows that $\Delta = D(I - P) \in \widetilde{\mathbf{Alg}}$ with

$$Det\Delta = DetD \cdot Det(I - P) \tag{1.6}$$

by [17, Proposition 2.5]. By the assumption (1.4) of the Theorem it follows that

$$Det D = \exp \int \log D_G(o, o) \, d\rho(G, o) \,. \tag{1.7}$$

Next define the measure topology of a von Neumann algebra $\overline{\text{VNA}}$ to be the topology whose fundamental system of neighbourhoods around 0 is given by

$$V(\varepsilon, \delta) = \{T \in \overline{VNA} : \text{there exists a projection } E \in \mathbf{Alg s.t.} \ ||TE|| \le \varepsilon \text{ and } \mathrm{Tr}(1 - E) \le \delta \},$$

where ε, δ run over all strictly positive numbers. Since $||P|| \le 1$, one gets for 0 < c < 1 that $\log |I - cP| \le (\log 2)I$ and so |I - cP| converges to |I - P| in the strong operator topology as

 $c \uparrow 1$. Therefore $\log |I - cP|$ will converge to $\log |I - P|$ in the measure topology. Thus,

$$\operatorname{Det}(I - P) = \lim_{c \uparrow 1} \operatorname{Det}(I - cP)$$

by the generalised Monotone Convergence Theorem [13, Theorem 3.5]. For 0 < c < 1, one has

$$\log \operatorname{Det}(I - cP) = \Re \operatorname{Tr} \log(I - cP)$$

by [15, Theorem 1] and

$$\log(I - cP) = -\sum_{k>1} c^k P^k / k$$

(in the norm topology). Hence,

$$\log \operatorname{Det}(I - cP) = -\sum_{k \ge 1} \Re \operatorname{Tr}_{\rho} c^k P^k / k = -\sum_{k \ge 1} \operatorname{Tr}_{\rho} c^k P^k / k ,$$

whose limit as $c \uparrow 1$ is

$$-\sum_{k>1} \operatorname{Tr}_{\rho} P^{k}/k = \int -\sum_{k>1} \frac{1}{k} p_{k}(o; G) \, d\rho(G, o)$$
 (1.8)

by the Monotone Convergence Theorem. The entropy formula (1.5) follows now by comparing (1.2) with (1.6), (1.7) and (1.8)

The concept of an infinite periodic graph is the following: Let $K = \{0, 1, ..., k\}$ be a finite set and G be a graph with vertex set $\mathbb{Z}^d \times K$ and with edge set that is invariant under the natural action of \mathbb{Z}^d . That is, $(\mathbf{x}, i) \sim (\mathbf{y}, j)$ if and only if $(\mathbf{0}, i) \sim (\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{x}, j)$. This construction leads to the following simplification of the graph-Laplacian, i.e. for each $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ there is a $|K| \times |K|$ matrix $L^{\mathbf{x}}$ such that

$$\Delta_G((\mathbf{x}, u), (\mathbf{y}, v)) = L^{\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{x}}(u, v)$$

for all $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and $u, v \in K$. Let ρ be a measure that puts equal mass on each rooted graph (G, (o, u)), with $u \in K$. Consider Δ_G as operating on $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d \times K)$ as an operator T on $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d; \ell^2(K))$. The space $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d; \ell^2(K))$ is isometrically isomorphic to $L^2([0, 1]^d; \ell^2(K))$ via the Fourier transformation. The Fourier transform of the operator T becomes the matrix-valued function

$$M: (s_1, s_2, \dots, s_d) \mapsto \sum_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{Z}^d} L^{\mathbf{x}} \exp^{2\pi \mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{s}} \qquad (\mathbf{s} = (s_1, s_2, \dots, s_d) \in [0, 1]^d)$$

and the vector $\mathbf{1}_{\{(o,u)\}}$ becomes the function $\mathbf{1}_{\{u\}} \in \ell^2(K)$. Finally, the entropy can be rewritten as

$$\mathbf{h}(\rho) = \frac{1}{|K|} \sum_{u \in K} \left((\log \Delta_G) \mathbf{1}_{\{(o,u)\}}, \mathbf{1}_{\{(o,u)\}} \right) = \frac{1}{|K|} \sum_{u \in K} \int_{[0,1]^d} \left((\log M(\mathbf{s})) \mathbf{1}_{\{u\}}, \mathbf{1}_{\{u\}} \right) d\mathbf{s}$$
$$= \frac{1}{|K|} \int_{[0,1]^d} \operatorname{tr} \left(\log M(\mathbf{s}) \right) d\mathbf{s} = \frac{1}{|K|} \int_{[0,1]^d} \log \det M(\mathbf{s}) d\mathbf{s}.$$

The final part of this chapter is the calculation of the classical tree entropy of the nearest-neighbour graph and the triangle lattice graph (d=2) with the method above.

Example. Let G be the nearest neighbour graph on \mathbb{Z}^2 and $K = \{0\}$, then M becomes a 1×1

operator. When perceiving $L^{\mathbf{x}}$ as $L^{\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{0}}$ one easily gets:

$$M(\mathbf{s}) = 4 - \exp^{2\pi s_1} - \exp^{-2\pi s_1} - \exp^{2\pi s_2} - \exp^{-2\pi s_2}$$

and

$$\mathbf{h}(\rho) = \mathbf{h}(\mathbb{Z}^2) = \int_{[0,1]^2} \log(4 - 2\cos(2\pi s_1) - 2\cos(2\pi s_2)) ds_1 ds_2.$$

Example. Let G be the triangle lattice and $K = \{0\}$. This graph does not fulfil the conditions of an infinite periodic graph but the graph is isomorphic to the nearest neighbour graph with additional edges connecting a vertex with the nearest vertices which lie in northeast and southwest direction. And so one gets,

$$M(\mathbf{s}) = 6 - 2\cos(2\pi s_1) - 2\cos(2\pi s_2) - 2\cos(2\pi (s_1 + s_2))$$

and

$$\mathbf{h}(\rho) = \int_{[0,1]^2} \log \left(6 - 2\cos(2\pi s_1) - 2\cos(2\pi s_2) - 2\cos(2\pi (s_1 + s_2)) \right) ds_1 ds_2.$$

2 Dynamical Systems That Are Related To Spanning Trees

In this chapter the essential spanning forest process, the dimer model and the abelian sandpile model will be introduced. These models are related to spanning trees or are connected by isomomorphisms. Therefore, the detailed treatment of spanning trees in the first chapter will ease the elaboration of these dynamical systems.

2.1 The Essential Spanning Forest Process

Reference(s): [25, section 5] and [27]

2.1.1 Uniform Spanning Forest Measures

In this section two probability measures will be introduced which arise as weak limit of measures of finite graphs; and some of their properties will be stated.

Given any graph G = (V, E), let $\{0, 1\}^E$ denote the measurable space of all subsets of E with the Borel σ -field that is generated by sets of the form $\{F \subseteq E : e \in F\}$, with $e \in E$. An elementary cylinder is an event $A \subseteq \{0, 1\}^E$ of the form

$$A = \left\{ \mathfrak{F} \in \{0,1\}^{\mathcal{E}} : B_1 \subseteq \mathfrak{F}, B_2 \cap \mathfrak{F} = \emptyset \right\},\,$$

where $B_1, B_2 \subset E$ are finite disjoint sets. A cylinder event is a finite union of elementary cylinders. A sequence of measures μ_n on the Borel σ -algebra converges weakly to μ if $\mu_n(C) \to \mu(C)$, for every cylinder set C. Let G = (V, E) be an infinite connected graph. Let V_1, V_2, \ldots be finite connected subsets of V with $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} V_n = V$. Let $G_n = (V_n, E_n)$ be the subgraph spanned by V_n , i.e. an edge of G appears in $E_n \in E$ if its endpoints are in V_n . A sequence of such graphs $\langle G_n \rangle$ is called an **exhaustion** of G.

Let μ_n be the **uniform spanning tree probability measure** on G_n ; that is the measure which puts equal mass to every spanning tree in G_n . Since G_n is finite there are only finitely many spanning trees. Given a finite set B of edges with $B \subseteq E_n$, for n large enough. The limit $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu_n(B \subseteq T) = \mu(B \subseteq T)$ exists because $\mu_n(B \subseteq T)$ is a decreasing sequence in n by Rayleigh's monotonicity principle [27, Chapter 2 and Chapter 10]. It follows from the inclusion-exclusion principle

$$\mu(B_1 \subseteq \mathfrak{F}, B_2 \cap \mathfrak{F} = \emptyset) := \sum_{S \subset B_2} \mu(B_1 \cup S \subseteq \mathfrak{F})(-1)^{|S|} = \sum_{S \subset B_2} \lim_{n \to \infty} \mu_n(B_1 \cup S \subseteq \mathfrak{F})(-1)^{|S|}$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \mu_n(B_1 \subseteq T, B_2 \cap T = \emptyset)$$

that μ is defined on all elementary cylinders and therefore for cylinder events and hence uniquely defines a probability measure μ on $\{0,1\}^E$. This measure will be denoted by FSF and will be called **free uniform spanning forest measure** (the name will be clear later).

An alternative approach will be made because boundary conditions could have an effect on the connections within G_n . This problem will be avoided by forcing all connections outside of G_n .

Therefor, let G_n^* be the graph obtained from G by contracting the vertices outside G_n to a single vertex z_n . The vertex z_n will be called root, too, but this time with the above interpretation. Let μ_n^* be the random spanning tree measure on G_n^* . The limiting probability measure WSF does not depend on the exhaustion and it will be called the **wired spanning forest measure** (because the boundary is "wired" together).

Both FSF and WSF are invariant under any automorphisms that G may have and they are concentrated on the set of **essential** spanning forests of G; that are those spanning forests whose components are infinite trees.

An **end** of an infinite graph G is an equivalence class of infinite simple paths in G, where two paths are equivalent if, for every finite subgraph $K \subset G$, there is a connected component of $G \setminus K$ that intersects both paths.

Let G be a graph. For a subgraph H, let its (internal) vertex boundary $\partial_{\mathbb{V}}H$ be the set of vertices of H that are adjacent to some vertex not in H. The graph G is **amenable** if there is an exhaustion $G_1 \subset G_2 \subset \ldots$ with $\bigcup_n G_n = G$ and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{|\partial_{\mathbf{V}} G_n|}{|\mathbf{V}(G_n)|} = 0,$$

where |.| is the counting measure. Such an exhaustion (or the sequence of its vertex sets) is called a **Følner sequence**.

The group of all automorphisms of G will be denoted by Aut(G). The action of a group Γ on a graph G by automorphisms is said to be **transitive** if there is only one Γ -orbit in V(G) and to be **quasi-transitive** if there are only finitely many orbits in V(G). A graph G is transitive or quasi-transitive according as whether the corresponding action of Aut(G) is. A locally compact group is called **unimodular** if its left Haar measure is also right invariant. A graph G is unimodular if Aut(G) is unimodular, where the weak topology of Aut(G) is generated by its action on G.

Suppose that the finite group $\Gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}(G)$ acts on a countable or a finite vertex set of a graph and preserves the measure μ . Then the entropy of the pair (μ, Γ) is

$$\mathbf{H}(\mu,\Gamma) := |\Gamma|^{-1} \mathbf{H}(\mu)$$
.

A countable locally compact group Γ with Haar measure |.| is called amenable if there is a sequence of finite sets $\langle \Gamma_n \rangle$ with

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{|\gamma \Gamma_n \Delta \Gamma_n|}{|\Gamma_n|} = 0,$$

for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$; the sequence $\langle \Gamma_n \rangle$ will be called Følner sequence. Suppose Γ is a countable amenable finitely generated subgroup of $\operatorname{Aut}(G)$. Let μ be a probability measure on $\{0,1\}^E$ that is preserved by Γ . Let $\langle \Gamma_n \rangle$ be a Følner sequence in Γ and H be a finite subgraph of G such that $\Gamma H = G$, provided such an H exists. Then the **metric-entropy** of the pair (μ, Γ) , also called the Γ -entropy of μ , is

$$\mathbf{H}(\mu,\Gamma) := \lim_{n \to \infty} |\Gamma_n|^{-1} \mathbf{H}(\mu \downarrow \Gamma_n H) ,$$

where $\mathbf{H}(\mu \downarrow (\Gamma_n H))$ is the restriction of μ to the σ -field generated by the restriction $\mathrm{E}(\Gamma_n H)$. Let X be a closed subgroup of $\mathrm{Aut}(G)$. The **stabiliser** of an element $g \in G$ is the subgroup given by $S(g) := \{x \in X : xg = g\}$. The action of a group is called **free** if the stabiliser of each element of the set is just the identity element of the group.

Lemma 2.1. [6, 18, 25] For every quasi-transitive amenable graph G, $FSF_G = WSF_G$.

Lemma 2.2. [25] Let G be an infinite quasi-transitive unimodular connected graph. If G has 2 ends, then \mathfrak{F} is a tree with exactly 2 ends WSF-a.s., while otherwise, for WSF-a.e. \mathfrak{F} , each component tree of \mathfrak{F} has exactly one end.

Remark 2.3. [6, 29] Since the most examples of the following chapters live on \mathbb{Z}^d some concrete results of graphs on \mathbb{Z}^d will be stated: The uniform spanning forest (USF) has no cycles WSF-a.s. If $d \leq 4$ the USF is a single tree a.s.. For $2 \leq d \leq 4$ the USF has one end a.s. If d > 4 then a.s. the USF has infinitely many components, each component is infinite and has a single end.

2.1.2 The Entropy Of The Essential Spanning Forest Process

Let $\mathbb{F} \subset \{0,1\}^{\mathrm{E}(G)}$ be the set of all essential spanning forests of G and $\Gamma \subseteq \mathrm{Aut}(G)$ a countable group acting freely on $\mathrm{V}(G)$ with a finite number of orbits I. The set \mathbb{F} is closed, compact and Γ -invariant. The dynamical system (\mathbb{F},Γ) is called the **essential spanning forest process** and has entropy $\mathbf{H}(\mathrm{WSF}_G,\Gamma)$. In this section a coincidence between this Γ -entropy and the tree entropy will be shown.

Suppose that G is an infinite quasi-transitive amenable connected graph. Let $x \in V$ and $\Gamma \subseteq \operatorname{Aut}(G)$, then the orbit of x is given by $\Gamma x = \{\gamma x : \gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}(G)\}$. Choose a complete set $\mathfrak{O} = \{o_1, o_2, \ldots, o_L\}$ of representatives in V of the orbits of G. Let $\mu_i := |S(o_i)|$ and normalize the Haar measure $|\cdot|$, i.e. the cardinality of a set, such that $\rho(\mathfrak{O}) = \sum_i \mu_i^{-1} = 1$, where $\rho(o_i) = \mu_i^{-1}$. By [5, Proposition 3.6] for any Følner sequence $\langle H_n \rangle$ and all i:

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{|\Gamma o_i \cap H_n|}{|H_n|} = \mu_i^{-1}.$$

So the relative frequency of vertices in H_n that are in the same orbit o_i converges to $\rho(o_i)$. The measure ρ is called the **natural frequency distribution** of G.

Theorem 2.4. Let G be an infinite quasi-transitive amenable connected graph with natural frequency distribution ρ . Let G_n be a Følner sequence of finite connected subgraphs of G. Then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{|V(G_n)|} \log \tau(G_n) = \sum_{x \in V(G)} \rho(x) \log \deg_G(x) - \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{1}{k} \sum_{x \in V(G)} \rho(x) p^k(x; G) = \mathbf{h}(G, \rho).$$

$$(2.1)$$

If $\Gamma \subseteq \operatorname{Aut}(G)$ is a countable group acting freely on V(G) with a finite number I of orbits, then

$$\mathbf{H}(\mathrm{WSF}_G, \Gamma) = I \, \mathbf{h}(G, \rho) \,. \tag{2.2}$$

Given a finite subgraph H of a graph G and a configuration ω of E(G), let $H(\omega)$ denote the cylinder event consisting of those configurations of E(G) that agree with ω on E(H). Now let ω be a configuration of $E(G) \setminus E(H)$, then two finite graphs from certain vertex identifications on H are defined as follows: (1) $H \circ \omega$ for the graph obtained by identifying all vertices of H that are connected to each other in the graph $(V(G), \omega)$; (2) and let $H * \omega$ be the graph obtained by identifying all vertices of H that are connected to each other in the graph $(V(G), \omega)$ and by identifying all vertices of H that belong to any infinite connected component in $(V(G), \omega)$.

Lemma 2.5. Let G be an infinite quasi-transitive unimodular connected graph and let H be a finite connected subgraph of G. If G has 2 ends, then

$$WSF\left(H(\mathfrak{F}) \mid \mathfrak{F} \downarrow (E \backslash E(H))\right) = \tau \left(H \circ (\mathfrak{F} \downarrow (E \backslash E(H)))\right)^{-1} \qquad WSF-a.s.$$

while otherwise,

$$\operatorname{WSF}\left(H\big(\mathfrak{F}\big) \;\middle|\; \mathfrak{F} \downarrow \big(\operatorname{E} \backslash \operatorname{E}(H)\big)\right) = \tau \bigg(H * \big(\mathfrak{F} \downarrow \big(\operatorname{E} \backslash \operatorname{E}(H)\big)\big)\bigg)^{-1} \qquad \operatorname{WSF-}a.s.$$

Proof: The proof will only be given for the case when G has other than 2-ends. Let Z be the event that each tree of \mathfrak{F} has exactly one end, Lemma 2.2 says that $\mathrm{WSF}(Z)=1$. Let B_R be a ball of radius R about some fixed vertex of G. Choose R_H so that $H\subset B_{R_H}$. Let A_R be the following event: for all $x,y\in\partial_{\mathrm{V}}H$ and $z,w\in\partial_{\mathrm{V}}B_R$ if in $\mathfrak{F}\downarrow\big(\mathrm{E}(B_R)\backslash\mathrm{E}(H)\big)$ x is connected to z,y is connected to w and x is not connected to w, then x and y are not connected in $\mathfrak{F}\downarrow\mathrm{E}(H)$. Thus, $A_R\subseteq A_{R+1}$ for all $R\geq R_H$ and

$$Z \subseteq \bigcup_R A_R$$

whence $\lim_{R\to\infty} \mathrm{WSF}(A_R) = 1$. Define

$$C_R := \left\{ \mathfrak{F} \;\middle|\; \operatorname{WSF}(A_R \mid \mathfrak{F} \downarrow (\operatorname{E}(B_R) \backslash \operatorname{E}(H))) \geq \frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - \operatorname{WSF}(A_R)}}{(\operatorname{WSF}(\mathfrak{F} \downarrow (\operatorname{E}(B_R) \backslash \operatorname{E}(H))))^2} \right\},$$

and since

$$WSF(A_R) = \int WSF\left(A_R \mid \mathfrak{F} \downarrow (E(B_R) \backslash E(H))\right) dWSF,$$

it follows (proof by contradiction and using Chebyshev's inequality) that, for all large R,

$$WSF(C_R) \ge 1 - \sqrt{1 - WSF(A_R)}$$
.

In particular, WSF($\limsup_{R\to\infty} C_R$) = 1. By definition,

$$\operatorname{WSF}\left(H\left(\mathfrak{F}\right) \;\middle|\; \mathfrak{F} \downarrow \left(\operatorname{E} \backslash \operatorname{E}(H)\right)\right) = \lim_{R \to \infty} \operatorname{WSF}\left(H\left(\mathfrak{F}\right) \;\middle|\; \mathfrak{F} \downarrow \left(\operatorname{E}(B_R) \backslash \operatorname{E}(H)\right)\right) \quad \operatorname{WSF-a.s}.$$

Fix a forest $\omega \in Z \cap \limsup_{R \to \infty} C_R$ for which the limit above holds. Choose $\varepsilon > 0$ arbitrarily small. Choose $R \geq R_H$ so large that

$$\left| \operatorname{WSF} \left(H(\omega) \mid \omega \downarrow \left(\operatorname{E} \backslash \operatorname{E}(H) \right) \right) - \operatorname{WSF} \left(H(\omega) \mid \omega \downarrow \left(\operatorname{E}(B_R) \backslash \operatorname{E}(H) \right) \right) \right| < \varepsilon, \tag{2.3}$$

that $\omega \in C_R$, that $\sqrt{1 - \mathrm{WSF}(A_R)} < \varepsilon$, and that each vertex in $\partial_V H$ that is connected in $\omega \downarrow (\mathrm{E}(B_R) \setminus \mathrm{E}(H))$ to $\partial_V B_R$ belongs to an infinite component in $\omega \downarrow (\mathrm{E} \setminus \mathrm{E}(H))$. This last requirement, in combination with $\omega \in Z$, implies that $\omega \in A_R$. Consider the cylinder set

$$D := (B_R \backslash E(H))(\omega) = \left\{ \mathfrak{F} \mid \mathfrak{F} \downarrow (E(B_R) \backslash E(H)) = \omega \downarrow (E(B_R) \backslash E(H)) \right\}.$$

Let μ_N be the uniform spanning tree measure on B_N^* . By definition,

WSF
$$(H(\omega) \mid D) = \lim_{N \to \infty} \mu_N (H(\omega) \mid D)$$

and

$$WSF(A_R \mid D) = \lim_{N \to \infty} \mu_N(A_R \mid D).$$

Since $\omega \in C_R$ and $\sqrt{1 - \text{WSF}(A_R)} < \varepsilon$, it is clear that $\text{WSF}(A_R \mid D) > \frac{1 - \varepsilon}{\text{WSF}(D)^2} \ge 1 - \varepsilon$. Let N > R be so large that

$$\big| \operatorname{WSF} \big(H(\omega) \mid D \big) - \lim_{N \to \infty} \mu_N \big(H(\omega) \mid D \big) \big| < \varepsilon$$

and $\mu_N(A_R \mid D) > 1 - \varepsilon$. Since

$$\mu_N(H(\omega) \mid D) = \mu_N(A_R \mid D)\mu_N(H(\omega)|A_R \cap D) + \mu_N(A_R^C \mid D)\mu_N(H(\omega)|A_R^C \cap D),$$

and so one has

$$|\mu_N(H(\omega) \mid D) - \mu_N(H(\omega) \mid A_R \cap D)| < 2\varepsilon.$$

Given $A_R \cap D$, the configurations inside H and outside B_R are μ_N -independent. Since $\omega \in A_R$, it follows that

$$\mu_N(H(\omega) \mid A_R \cap D) = \tau(H * \omega)^{-1},$$

and so

$$|\operatorname{WSF}_N(H(\omega) \mid D) - \tau(H * \omega)^{-1}| < 3\varepsilon.$$

Therefore,

$$\left| \text{WSF} \left(H \left(\omega \right) \, \left| \, \omega \right| \, \left(\, \text{E} \left(\, \text{E} \left(H \right) \, \right) \, \right) - \tau \, \left(H * \omega \right)^{-1} \right| < 4\varepsilon \right|$$

by (2.3). Since ε is arbitrary and ω is an arbitrary element of a set of measure 1, the result follows.

Definition. Let A and B be random variables with state spaces \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} and joint distribution $\mu(a,b)$. The **joint entropy** of A and B is defined by

$$\mathbf{H}(A,B) := -\sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \sum_{b \in \mathcal{B}} \mu(a,b) \log \mu(a,b).$$

Lemma 2.6. Let Y be a finite set and m be a positive integer. Write $\alpha := m/|Y|$. Suppose that μ is a probability measure on $\{0,1\}^Y \times \{0,1\}^Y$ that is supported on the set of pairs (ω_1,ω_2) with $|\omega_1\Delta\omega_2| \leq m$. Let μ_1 and μ_2 be the coordinate marginals of μ . Then

$$\left| \mathbf{H}(\mu_1) - \mathbf{H}(\mu_2) \right| \le \log \sum_{k=0}^m {|Y| \choose k} \le |Y| \left(-\alpha \log \alpha - (1-\alpha) \log(1-\alpha) \right).$$

The proof mainly follows [10, Lemma 6.2].

Proof: Let A and B be binary random vectors with distribution μ_1 respectively μ_2 . Define the random vector C with $C_i := \mathbf{1}_{\{A_i \neq B_i\}}$ and distribution μ_3 which puts equal mass to every allowed state of C. Then $\mathbf{H}(A) \leq \mathbf{H}(A, C) = \mathbf{H}(B, C) \leq \mathbf{H}(B) + \mathbf{H}(C)$. By symmetry $|\mathbf{H}(A) - \mathbf{H}(B)| \leq \mathbf{H}(C)$. By definition of μ_3 , $\mathbf{H}(C) = \log \sum_{k=0}^{m} {|Y| \choose k}$. For the last inequality see [8, Bollobas p.11].

Lemma 2.7. Let H be a finite connected graph and W be a subset of vertices of H. Let H' be any graph obtained from H by making certain identifications of the vertices in W with each other. When $\alpha := (|W|-1)/|\operatorname{E}(H)|$, then

$$|\log \tau(H) - \log \tau(H')| \le |E(H)|(-\alpha \log \alpha - (1-\alpha)\log(1-\alpha)).$$

Proof: Let μ and μ' be the uniform spanning tree measure on H respectively H'. It follows from Feder and Mihail [14] that μ stochastically dominates μ' . By Strassen's theorem [36] this means that there is a probability measure on pairs (T,T') such that the law of T is μ , the law of T' is μ' and $T \supseteq T'$ a.s. In [27, Exercise 4.5., Proposition 4.5., Lemma 10.3., Exercise 10.7. and Theorem 10.4.] the results of the cites above are proved in the setting of graph theory. Now

2 Dynamical Systems That Are Related To Spanning Trees

|E(T)| = |V(H)| - 1 and |E(T')| = |V(H')| - 1. It follows that a.s.

$$|E(T)\Delta E(T')| = |V(H)| - |V(H')| \le |W| - 1$$
.

Lemma 2.6 deduces that

$$|\mathbf{H}(\mu) - \mathbf{H}(\mu')| \le |\mathbf{E}(H)| (-\alpha \log \alpha - (1-\alpha) \log(1-\alpha)).$$

The inequality now follows from $\mathbf{H}(\mu) = \log \tau(H)$ and $\mathbf{H}(\mu') = \log \tau(H')$.

Lemma 2.8. Let G be an infinite quasi-transitive unimodular connected graph and H be a finite connected subgraph of G. Write $\alpha := (|\partial_V H| - 1) / |E(H)|$. For WSF-a.e. \mathfrak{F} one gets

$$\left|\log \text{WSF}\left(H(\mathfrak{F})\right) - \log \tau(H)^{-1}\right| \le \left|E(H)\right| \left(-\alpha \log \alpha - (1-\alpha) \log(1-\alpha)\right).$$

This result follows from Lemma 2.5 and Lemma 2.7. For details consult [25, Lemma 5.5].

Proof of 2.4: By definition of ρ , the graphs G_n have a random weak limit $(G; \rho)$. And (2.1) is a consequence of 1.4. To prove (2.2) choose a ball $B_R(o)$ of vertices and edges such that $\Gamma B_R(o) = G$. Let

$$\Gamma_n := \{ \gamma \in \Gamma \mid \gamma B_R(o) \cap G_n \neq \emptyset \}$$

and put

$$G'_n := \Gamma_n B_R(o)$$
.

Since $\langle G_n \rangle$ is a Følner sequence in G, it follows that $\langle \Gamma_n \rangle$ is a Følner sequence in Γ . Therefore,

$$\mathbf{H}(\mathrm{WSF}, \Gamma) = -\lim_{n \to \infty} |\Gamma_n|^{-1} \log \mathrm{WSF} \left(G'_n(\mathfrak{F}) \right)$$

in $L^1(\text{WSF})$ by the generalised Shannon-McMillan Theorem of Kieffer [22]. Since Γ acts freely on V one gets

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} |V(G'_n)|/|\Gamma_n| = I.$$

Hence,

$$\mathbf{H}(\text{WSF}, \Gamma) = -\lim_{n \to \infty} I |V(G'_n)|^{-1} \log \text{WSF} \left(G'_n(\mathfrak{F})\right)$$
(2.4)

in $L^1(WSF)$. Every quasi-transitive amenable graph is unimodular (see [31, 35] or [5]). The result now follows from Lemma 2.8 together with (2.4).

Remark 2.9. Sheffield [34] showed that WSF is the unique measure of maximal entropy.

2.2 Dimer Model

Reference(s): [29] and [10, section 7]

A dimer cover or domino tiling or one factor of a graph G is a partition of the vertices into sets of size 2, where each set contains two adjacent vertices. From another point of view, a dimer covering is a subset of edges, which covers every vertex exactly once, i.e. every vertex is endpoint of exactly one edge.

2.2.1 Connection Between ESFP And Dimer Covers

Dual graphs are necessary to develop a correspondence between ESFP of a planar graph and domino tilings of a related graph: Let G be a locally finite planar graph such that every face is

bounded by finitely many edges (including the exterior face). A graph with these properties is said to be **nice**. The dual graph G^* is obtained from the nice graph G by putting a vertex at each face of G and joining two such vertices by an edge if their corresponding faces in G share an edge.

Next define the superposition \tilde{G} of G and G^* by the following properties: The vertex set of \tilde{G} is the union of V(G), $V(G^*)$ and E(G) (the "vertex set" E(G) is the set of intersections of E(G) and $E(G^*)$). There is an edge of \tilde{G} joining $v \in V(G)$ and $e \in E(G)$ if and only if e is incident to v. Likewise $v \in V(G^*)$ and $e \in E(G)$ are joined by an edge if v is a vertex of the edge in G^* identified with e. May someone should think of the edge set of \tilde{G} as a subset of "broken" edges of the original edge sets.

If T is a subgraph of G, let T^* be the subgraph of G^* so that $e^* \in T^*$ if and only if $e \notin T$. This construction is crucial for the connection below.

A directed essential spanning forest is a spanning forest together with a choice of root for each component, where only the ends of the components are allowed as roots. Edges of a directed spanning forest are oriented toward this root. If \mathfrak{F} and \mathfrak{F}^* are dual essential spanning forests of a nice infinite planar graph, then a pair $(\mathfrak{F},\mathfrak{F}^*)$ is called directed if a root has been chosen of each component of \mathfrak{F} and of \mathfrak{F}^* .

Let G be a nice infinite planar graph G; a bijection between domino tilings of G and directed pairs of essential spanning forests of G and G^* is described as follows: If $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{F}^*)$ is a directed pair, then let $\Psi(\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{F}^*)$ be the dimer cover $A \subseteq E(\tilde{G})$ such that:

- 1. The edge from $v \in V(G)$ to $e \in E(G)$ is in A if and only if $e \in \mathfrak{F}$ and ve is oriented away from v, and
- 2. the edge from $v^* \in V(G^*)$ to $e \in E(G^*) = E(G)$ is in A if and only if $e \in \mathfrak{F}^*$ and is oriented away from v^* .

It is easy to see that A is a dimer cover: Each vertex $v \in V(G)$ is in precisely one edge of A, corresponding to the unique edge in \mathfrak{F} out of v; similarly each $v^* \in V(G^*)$ is in a unique edge of A; and each $e \in E(G)$ is in a unique edge of A since e is in precisely one of $\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{F}^*$.

Conversely, if $A \subset E(G)$ is a dimer cover, then each edge $f \in A$ connects some $e \in E(G)$ either to some $v \in V(G)$ or some $v^* \in G^*$. Let $\Phi(f)$ be the edge e in either G or G^* accordingly and orient it away from v or v^* . The collection of all $\{\Phi(f)\colon f\in A\}$ is the union of a subgraph G' of G and the corresponding dual subgraph G'^* of G^* . If G' would have a cycle, then inside the cycle is a component of G'^* . Starting anywhere in this component of G'^* and following the orientation creates a cycle since the component is finite. This cycle encloses a cycle of G' inside the original cycle. But this cannot continue forever because of the finite-conditions on G which are required at the beginning of the chapter, whence G' (and G'^*) has no cycle. Thus G' and G'^* are essential spanning forests with each component directed toward a root.

Let Π be the map that takes a directed pair of ESFs $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{F}^*)$ and produces the undirected ESF \mathfrak{F} , by forgetting about \mathfrak{F}^* and about the arrows. So the following correspondence was established:

Dimer Cover
$$\xrightarrow{\Phi}$$
 Directed ESF's $\xrightarrow{\Pi}$ ESF's.

2.2.2 Uniform Measure Of Maximal Entropy

Fix a \mathbb{Z}^2 -periodic planar graph G, so the vertex set is \mathbb{Z}^2 . There is a well defined map $\Psi \circ \Pi^{-1}$ from one-ended spanning trees of G to domino tilings of \tilde{G} (which is also \mathbb{Z}^2 periodic).

The uniform spanning forest measure WSF on G is supported on the set of one-ended trees (see Pemantle [29]) so the preceding correspondence gives a transported measure μ on domino

tilings of G. In the remainder of this chapter $\mathbf{H}(.)$ will always denote the Kolmogorov-Sinai entropy per vertex.

Theorem 2.10. The measure μ is the unique measure of maximal entropy among all shift invariant probability measures on domino tilings and its entropy per fundamental domain is $\mathbf{H}(\mathrm{WSF})$.

Proof: Since μ is well defined and \mathbb{Z}^2 -invariant, it remains to prove the assertions about its entropy. Suppose that $\tilde{\nu}$ is a translation invariant probability measure on domino tilings of \tilde{G} . This will be transported to a measure ν on essential spanning forests of G by $\nu(B) = \tilde{\nu}(\Psi(\Pi^{-1}(B)))$.

First it will be shown that the Kolmogorov-Sinai-entropy per fundamental domain is preserved. Therefor, note that ν is translation invariant so with probability 1 the components of the essential spanning forest have one or two ends (see [9]). There is only one way that a one-ended tree may be covered with dominoes and there are two ways a two-ended tree may be covered. Thus the ambiguity in determining the domino tiling is one bit for a two-ended component in the forest in G plus one bit for each two-ended component in the dual spanning forest of G^* . Since there are O(n) such components in every box B(n) of side length n which has on the order of n^2 vertices, the entropy of ν and $\tilde{\nu}$ are the same since

$$\frac{1}{|B_n|} \mathbf{H}(\tilde{\nu} \mid B_n) \le \frac{1}{|B_n|} \mathbf{H}(\nu \mid B_n) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\log n}{n^2}\right).$$

At this point the paper of Sheffield [34] must be cited again. Now $\mathbf{H}(\tilde{\nu})$ per fundamental domain $= \mathbf{H}(\nu) \leq \mathbf{H}(\mathrm{WSF}) = \mathbf{H}(\mu)$ per fundamental domain with equality only when $\nu = \mathrm{WSF}$. But WSF is concentrated on one-ended spanning trees [see [29]] and hence μ is the only measure which transports to WSF, which establishes that μ is the unique measure of maximal entropy on domino tilings.

The entropy per fundamental domain of the domino tiling on \tilde{G} is the same as the entropy per vertex of the essential spanning forest process on G. From the construction of \tilde{G} one gets $1+N_E+N_F$ for the number of vertices per fundamental domain, where and N_E is the number of edges and N_F the number of faces per fundamental domain. To convert the entropy per vertex formula of the spanning forest process to the entropy per vertex of the domino process on G it must be multiplied by $1/(1+N_E+N_F)$. If G is the nearest neighbour graph on \mathbb{Z}^2 , then $N_E=2$ and $N_F=1$ and so the entropy per vertex of the dimer cover is $\mathbf{H}(\mu)=\mathbf{h}(\mathbb{Z}^2)/4$.

2.3 Abelian Sandpile Model

Reference(s): [30] and [33]

After a short introduction to the abelian sandpile model (ASM) a one-to-one correspondence on finite regions between recurrent configurations and rooted spanning trees will be given.

2.3.1 Basics

Let $d \geq 2$ and \mathbb{Z}^d be the d-dimensional integer lattice and $\gamma \geq 2d$. Let $\mathfrak{C} = \mathbb{N}^{\mathbb{Z}^d}$ be the **height** configuration space and think of $\eta \in \mathfrak{C}$ as a map $\eta : \mathbb{Z}^d \to \mathbb{N}$ with the intuitive picture that every vertex is occupied with a number of grains of sand or building bricks which form a sandpile or tower.

Next a dynamical system on these height configurations will be introduced. Therefor, let $K \subseteq \mathbb{Z}^d$ be a nonempty set and denote by $N_K(\mathbf{n})$ the number of nearest neighbours (abbreviation:

n.n.) of $\mathbf{n} \in K$. The set $\Lambda_{\gamma} = \{0, 1, \dots, \gamma - 1\}^{\mathbb{Z}^d}$ will be called the **set of stable configurations**. Given a stable configuration, then add grains at uniformly randomly chosen vertices \mathbf{n} . By adding grains it could happen that $\eta(\mathbf{n}) \geq \gamma$ and the system becomes unstable. If this happens, then all unstable sites will topple. Let \mathbf{n} be an unstable site of η the toppling rule $T_{\mathbf{n}}$ is a map $\mathfrak{C} \to \mathfrak{C}$ and acts as follows:

$$T_{\mathbf{n}}(\eta)_{\mathbf{k}} = \begin{cases} \eta_{\mathbf{k}} - \gamma & \text{if } \mathbf{k} = \mathbf{n} \\ \eta_{\mathbf{k}} + 1 & \text{if } \mathbf{k}, \mathbf{n} \text{ are n.n. in } K \\ \eta_{\mathbf{k}} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Note that at the boundary of K grains can be lost and for two different unstable sites $\mathbf{m}, \mathbf{n} \in K$, $T_{\mathbf{m}}$ and $T_{\mathbf{n}}$ will commute. If unstable sites are created by toppling these will be toppled as well. This procedure will, in general, lead to a stable configuration if K is finite or $\gamma > 2d$. In both cases the system is dissipative. The addition of a grain at \mathbf{n} and the relaxation of the system afterwards will be expressed by an operator $a_{\mathbf{n}}$; again these operators commute. Since \mathbf{n} is random one gets a Markov-process with state space Λ_{γ} . The set of recurrent configurations will be denoted by \mathfrak{R} . The presented model is the so called **abelian sandpile model** (ASM).

There are many dynamical and algebraic aspects of the abelian sandpile model which could be explored, but the discussion here will concentrate on the interface between the ASM and spanning trees and the ASM and the Harmonic model, which will be introduced in Chapter 4.

2.3.2 Connection And Entropy

Let $\gamma=2d$. The **burning test**: Given $\eta\in\Lambda$, now "burn" all vertices $\mathbf n$ with $\eta_{\mathbf n}\geq N_K(\mathbf n)$. The result is a stable configuration with vertex set $K^{(1)}\subseteq K$. This procedure will be repeated until $K^{(i)}=K^{(i+1)}$. If $K^{(i)}=K^{(i+1)}\neq\emptyset$, then η fails the burning test and is not recurrent (see [28]). Let G be a periodic graph. The graph G will be extended by adding an extra vertex z, which will be called the root. The extended graph $G^*=(V^*,E^*)$ is then defined by adding extra edges from the boundary sites to the root, for $x\in\partial V$, $2d-N_V(x)$ edges go from x to the root.

Given a recurrent configuration, burning times will be assigned to every vertex in the following way: Start with extending the graph by all vertices which are n.n. to a vertex in the boundary of G and give them burning time 0. The burning time 1 is given to the boundary vertices which can be burnt in the first step of the algorithm, burning time 2 is given to the vertices which can be burnt after those, etc. The edges in the spanning tree are between sites with burning time t and t+1, with the interpretation that the site with burning time t+1 receives his fire from the neighbouring site with burning time t. In G^* every vertex in V has exactly 2doutgoing edges. In the case of ambiguity, i.e. t+1 has more than one neighbour with burning time t, the edge will be chosen according to a preference rule, depending on the height. This means that the edges will be ordered, this order defines a preference (e.g. d=1:left < right or d=2 west<south<east<north,...). Once a preference has been fixed, the new vertices will be identified with the root z without deletion of edges. Given the spanning tree and the preference rule, then one can reconstruct the height configuration. And so there is a bijection between \Re and the set of wired spanning trees. Since the cardinality of \mathfrak{R} is equal to $\tau(G^*)$, the number of recurrent configurations is obtained by using the Matrix-Tree-Theorem and so one gets the following theorem:

Theorem 2.11 (Dhar's formula).

$$|\mathfrak{R}| = \det \Delta_{G^*}[z] = \det(2dI_{|V|\times|V|} - A_G).$$

The entropy per vertex of the ASM can be obtained easily by the results of this section and Chapter 1.

2.3.3 An Infinite Volume Measure For The ASM

Recall the results of [6, 29] stated in Remark 2.3.

Theorem 2.12. Let ν_M denote the measure on recurrent configurations \mathfrak{R}_M , which puts equal mass to every recurrent configuration in $M \subseteq \mathbb{Z}^d$. Then for all $d \in \mathbb{N}$ as $M \to \mathbb{Z}^d$, $\nu_M \to \nu$; in the sense that, for all local functions f,

$$\lim_{M\uparrow\mathbb{Z}^d}\nu_M(f)\to\nu(f).$$

Proof: Let M be a finite set in \mathbb{Z}^d , \mathfrak{F}_M a rooted spanning tree on M and $A = \{\mathbf{n}_1, \mathbf{n}_2, \ldots, \mathbf{n}_k\}$ a finite set of vertices. The set \bar{A} of vertices is obtained from A by adding all the n.n. of A. Suppose M is big enough such that $\bar{A} \subseteq M$. Let $\eta_{\mathbf{n}}(M)(\mathfrak{F}_M)$ be the height of site \mathbf{n} corresponding to the rooted spanning tree \mathfrak{F}_M .

If an infinite tree has just one end, then the height $\eta_{\mathbf{n}}(\mathfrak{F})$ can be reconstructed. All paths starting from A or \bar{A} and going to infinity (the root) coincide from some point $\mathrm{anc}(A)$ on, this means that $\mathrm{anc}(A)$ is a common ancestor of the set \bar{A} .

Consider the subtree $\mathfrak{F}_M(A)$ of all descendants of $\operatorname{anc}(A)$. This is a finite tree, and the height $\eta_{\mathbf{n}}$ is reconstructed from the lengths of the paths, from $\operatorname{anc}(A)$ to \mathbf{n} and his n.n., and a preference rule.

Let $\mathfrak{F}_M(A,\eta)$ be the edge configuration of the tree $\mathfrak{F}_M(A)$ corresponding to the height configuration η_A on A and V a fixed finite subset of \mathbb{Z}^d , then one has

$$\nu_{M}(\eta_{A}) = \mu_{M} \big(\mathfrak{F}_{M}(A) = \mathfrak{F}_{M}(A, \eta) \big) = \mu_{M} \big(\{ \mathfrak{F}_{M}(A) = \mathfrak{F}_{M}(A, \eta) \} \cap \{ \mathfrak{F}_{M}(A) \subseteq V \} \big)$$
$$= \mu_{M} \big(\{ \mathfrak{F}_{M}(A) = \mathfrak{F}_{M}(A, \eta) \} \cap \{ \mathfrak{F}_{M}(A) \nsubseteq V \} \big) .$$

The indicator $\mathbf{1}_{\{\mathfrak{F}_{\pi d}(A)\subseteq V\}}$ is local and so

$$\limsup_{M\uparrow\infty} \nu_{M}(\eta_{A}) \leq \text{WSF}\left(\left\{\mathfrak{F}_{\mathbb{Z}^{d}}(A) = \mathfrak{F}_{M}(A, \eta)\right\} \cap \left\{\mathfrak{F}_{\mathbb{Z}^{d}}(A) \subseteq V\right\}\right) + \text{WSF}\left(\left\{\mathfrak{F}_{\mathbb{Z}^{d}}(A) \not\subseteq V\right\}\right)$$
(2.5)

and

$$\liminf_{M\uparrow\infty} \nu_M(\eta_A) \ge \text{WSF}\left(\left\{\mathfrak{F}_{\mathbb{Z}^d}(A) = \mathfrak{F}_M(A,\eta)\right\} \cap \left\{\mathfrak{F}_{\mathbb{Z}^d}(A) \subseteq V\right\}\right) - \text{WSF}\left(\left\{\mathfrak{F}_{\mathbb{Z}^d}(A) \not\subseteq V\right\}\right). \tag{2.6}$$

Therefore, since $\mathfrak{F}_{\mathbb{Z}^d}(A)$ is finite WSF-a.s., one obtains from combining (2.5) and (2.6) and letting $V \uparrow \mathbb{Z}^d$:

$$\lim_{M \uparrow \infty} \nu_M(\eta_A) = \text{WSF}\left(\left\{\mathfrak{F}_{\mathbb{Z}^d}(A) = \mathfrak{F}_M(A, \eta)\right\}\right).$$

So one finally gets a unique probability measure ν . Translation invariance for any $\mathbf{v} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$:

$$\lim_{M \uparrow \mathbb{Z}^d} \nu_M(\sigma_{\mathbf{v}} E) = \lim_{M \uparrow \mathbb{Z}^d} \nu_{\sigma_{-\mathbf{v}M}}(E) = \lim_{M \uparrow \mathbb{Z}^d} \nu_{\sigma_M}(E) = \nu(E).$$

In dimension d > 4 the correspondence above fails because the components of the USF are not connected. For a proof see [4] and the erratum [3].

3 Algebraic Actions

Reference(s): [12]

In this chapter generalised shifts will be studied. These shifts with alphabet \mathbb{T} have expansive shift actions and symmetry groups Γ , which can be non-commutative. Algebraic properties of the dual space of \mathbb{T}^{Γ} will be used to analyse the dynamics of these systems.

3.1 Introduction

Definition. Let Γ be a group and M a ring. The **group ring** $M[\Gamma]$ of Γ over M is the set of mappings $f: \Gamma \to M$ of finite support with sum $\gamma \mapsto (f+g)(\gamma) := f(\gamma) + g(\gamma)$ and convolution $\gamma \mapsto \sum_{\gamma'\gamma''=\gamma} f(\gamma')g(\gamma'')$ with $f,g \in M[\Gamma]$. The elements of $M[\Gamma]$ can be written as formal linear combinations of elements of Γ , with coefficients in M. And so an element $f \in M[\Gamma]$ can be expressed as $\sum_{\gamma} f(\gamma)\gamma$.

Now let Γ be a countable group with identity element 1 and integral group ring $\mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$. Let

$$\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma) := \left\{ w : \Gamma \to \mathbb{R} : \|w\|_{\infty} = \sup_{\gamma \in \Gamma} w(\gamma) < \infty \right\},$$

and denote by w_{γ} the value $w(\gamma) \in \mathbb{R}$, with $w \in \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma)$ and $\gamma \in \Gamma$. For $p \in [1, \infty)$ set

$$\ell^p := \left\{ w \in \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma) : \|w\|_p := \left(\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} |w_{\gamma}|^p \right)^{1/p} < \infty \right\}.$$

An element $h \in \ell^1(\Gamma)$ can be uniquely written as a convergent series

$$h = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} h_{\gamma} e(\gamma) \,;$$

where $e(\gamma) \in \ell^1(\Gamma)$, for every $\gamma \in \Gamma$, is defined by

$$e(\gamma)_{\gamma'} := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \gamma = \gamma' \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

The multiplication or convolution in $\ell^1(\Gamma)$ takes the form

$$h \cdot h' = \sum_{\gamma, \gamma' \in \Gamma} h_{\gamma} h'_{\gamma'} e(\gamma \gamma') = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \left(\sum_{\gamma' \in \Gamma} h_{\gamma'} h'_{\gamma'^{-1} \gamma} \right) e(\gamma).$$

The involution $h \mapsto h^*$ in $\ell^1(\Gamma)$ is defined by

$$h^* = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} h_{\gamma^{-1}} e(\gamma) = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} h_{\gamma} e(\gamma^{-1}).$$

The integral group ring $\mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$ can be viewed as subring of $\ell^1(\Gamma)$ by identifying $\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} a_{\gamma} \gamma \in \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$ with $\sum_{\gamma} a_{\gamma} e(\gamma)$.

The left shift action $(\gamma, w) \mapsto L^{\gamma}(w)$ and right shift action $(\gamma, w) \mapsto R^{\gamma}(w)$ of Γ on $\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma)$ are given by

$$(\mathcal{L}^{\gamma}w)_{\gamma'} = w_{\gamma^{-1}\gamma'} \tag{3.1}$$

$$(\mathbf{R}^{\gamma}w)_{\gamma'} = w_{\gamma'\gamma} \,, \tag{3.2}$$

for every $w \in \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma)$ and $\gamma, \gamma' \in \Gamma$.

These actions can be extended to $(h, w) \mapsto L_h w$ and $(h, w) \mapsto R_h w$ of $\ell^1(\Gamma)$ on $\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma)$ by setting

$$L_h w = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} h_{\gamma} L^{\gamma} w = h \cdot w \tag{3.3}$$

$$R_h w = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} h_{\gamma} R^{\gamma} w = w \cdot h^*, \qquad (3.4)$$

for every $h \in \ell^1(\Gamma)$, $w \in \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma)$ and $\gamma \in \Gamma$.

For $v \in \ell^p(\Gamma)$ and $w \in \ell^q(\Gamma)$ with $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1, 1 \le p, q \le \infty$, set

$$\langle v, w \rangle = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} v_{\gamma} w_{\gamma} .$$

A sequence v_n in $\ell^p(\Gamma)$ converges in the weak*-topology to v if and only if $\lim_{n\to\infty}\langle v_n,w\rangle=\langle v,w\rangle$ for all $w\in\ell^q(\Gamma)$.

Before defining the dynamical system the following identities will be noted:

$$\langle v, R_h w \rangle = \langle v, w \cdot h^* \rangle = \langle v \cdot h, w \rangle,$$
 (3.5)

$$\langle v, \mathcal{L}_h w \rangle = \langle v, h \cdot w \rangle = \langle h^* \cdot v, w \rangle.$$
 (3.6)

Definition. Let Γ be a countable discrete group. An **algebraic** Γ-action is a homomorphism $\alpha : \gamma \mapsto \alpha^{\gamma}$ from Γ into the group $\operatorname{Aut}(X)$ of continuous automorphisms of a compact abelian group X.

Let X be the compact abelian group \mathbb{T}^{Γ} under point-wise addition (that are maps from Γ to $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R} / \mathbb{Z}$). Under the pairing

$$\langle f, x \rangle = e^{2\pi i \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} f_{\gamma} x_{\gamma}},$$

where $f = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} f_{\gamma} \gamma \in \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$ and $x = (x_{\gamma}) \in X$, the Pontryagin dual \hat{X} of X can be identified with the group ring $\mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$. The left and right shift actions L and R of Γ on \mathbb{T}^{Γ} are defined analogously to (3.1) and (3.2); and just as in (3.3) and (3.4) these actions will be extended to homomorphisms L_f and R_f to actions of $\mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$ on X with $f \in \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$.

For fixed $f \in \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$ set

$$X_f = \ker(\mathbf{R}_f) = \{x \in X : \mathbf{R}_f x = 0\} = \mathbb{Z}[\widehat{\Gamma}]/\widehat{\mathbb{Z}[\Gamma}]f$$

and denote by

$$\alpha_f = L|_{X_f}$$

the restriction of the Γ -action L on X to X_f .

3.2 Entropy

An algebraic Γ -action on a compact abelian group X is **expansive** if there exists an open neighbourhood U of the identity $0_X = 0$ in X with $\bigcap_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \alpha^{\gamma}(U) = 0$.

Next a characterization of the expansive actions α_f will be given, therefor a few definitions will be needed. Set

$$\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z}) = \{ w \in \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma) : w_{\gamma} \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ for every } \gamma \in \Gamma \}.$$

The map $\rho: \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma) \to X$ given by

$$\rho(w)_{\gamma} = w_{\gamma} \pmod{1}$$
,

for every $w \in \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma)$ and $\gamma \in \Gamma$, is a continuous surjective group homomorphism with

$$\rho \circ L^{\gamma} = L^{\gamma} \circ \rho, \qquad \qquad \rho \circ R^{\gamma} = R^{\gamma} \circ \rho,$$

for every $\gamma \in \Gamma$. Define the linearization of X_f by

$$W_f = \rho^{-1}(X_f) = \mathrm{R}_f^{-1}(\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})) = \{ w \in \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma) : \mathrm{R}_f w \in \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z}) \};$$

which is weak*-closed and a L invariant subgroup with $\ker(\rho) = \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z}) \subset W_f$. For every $h \in \ell^1(\Gamma)$ and $1 \leq p \leq \infty$, set

$$K_p(h) = \{ g \in \ell^p(\Gamma) : R_h g = 0 \},$$
 $V_p(h) = R_h(\ell^p(\Gamma)).$

Theorem 3.1. Let Γ be a countable group and $f \in \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$. The following conditions are equivalent

- 1. The action α_f is expansive;
- 2. $K_{\infty}(f) = \{0\};$
- 3. f is invertible in $\ell^1(\Gamma)$.

Proof: Let δ be a metric on \mathbb{T} defined by

$$\delta(s_1, s_2) = \min\{|\tilde{s_1} - \tilde{s_2}| : \tilde{s_i} \in \mathbb{R} \mid s_i = \tilde{s_i} \pmod{1} \text{ for } i = 1, 2\}.$$

 $(2 \Rightarrow 1)$ Assume that there exists a nonzero element $v \in K_{\infty}(f)$. For every $c \in \mathbb{R}$ one gets $\rho(cv) \in X_f$. So |c| can be chosen sufficiently small such that for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a nonzero element $x^{(\varepsilon)} \in X_f$ with $\delta(0, x_{\gamma}^{(\varepsilon)}) < \varepsilon$ for every $\gamma \in \Gamma$. And so α_f is nonexpansive.

 $(1 \Rightarrow 2)$ If α_f is nonexpansive, then there exists a nonzero element $x \in X_f$ with $\delta(0, x_\gamma) < (3\|f\|_1)^{-1}$ for every $\gamma \in \Gamma$. Next choose an element $\tilde{x} \in \rho^{-1}(\{x\}) \subset W_f = \rho^{-1}(X_f)$ with $\|\tilde{x}_\gamma\| < (3\|f\|_1)^{-1}$, for every $\gamma \in \Gamma$. By definition of X_f and $R_f \tilde{x} \in \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})$, and the smallness of the coordinates of \tilde{x} one gets $\tilde{x} \in K_{\infty}(f)$.

 $(2\Rightarrow 3)$ If $K_{\infty}(f)=\{0\}$ then $V_1(f^*)$ is dense in $\ell^1(\Gamma)$ by (3.5) and the Hahn-Banach theorem. The group of units in $\ell^1(\Gamma)$ is open [11, Lemma 2.1.5], and since $V_1(f^*)$ is dense in $\ell^1(\Gamma)$ it must intersect with the open subset of units and therefore contains a unit. Hence there exists a $g\in \ell^1(\Gamma)$ with $g\cdot f=1$ and so f is invertible in $\ell^1(\Gamma)$ by [21, p. 122]. Sketch of the proof of the last argument: Let H be the closure of $\mathbb{C}[\Gamma]$ and \mathcal{A} be the closure of $\{L_f\}_{f\in\mathbb{C}[\Gamma]}$ w.r.t. the operator norm in B(H). Then a trace tr on the group- C^* -algebra \mathcal{A} will be defined. It can be shown that if $h\in\mathbb{C}[\Gamma]$ is an idempotent, then $\mathrm{tr}(h)=0\Rightarrow h=0$ and $\mathrm{tr}(h)=1\Rightarrow h=1$. The result follows by setting $h=f\cdot g$ which is an idempotent because $g\cdot f=1$ and the defining

property $\operatorname{tr}(g \cdot f) = \operatorname{tr}(f \cdot g)$ of a trace. $(3 \Rightarrow 2)$ If f is invertible in $\ell^1(\Gamma)$, then R_f is invertible with inverse $R_{f^{-1}}$.

Definition. Let α be an algebraic action of a countable discrete group Γ on a compact abelian group X with identity element 0. A point $x \in X$ is a α -homoclinic if $\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \alpha^{\gamma} x = 0$, i.e. for every neighbourhood U of 0 in X there is a finite subset F of Γ with $\alpha^{\gamma} x \in U$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma \backslash F$.

The set $\mathbb{H}_{\alpha}(X)$ of all α -homoclinic points in X is a subgroup of X, called the **homoclinic** group of α . A homoclinic point $x \in X$ is called **fundamental** if the homoclinic group $\mathbb{H}_{\alpha}(X)$ is generated by the orbit $\{\alpha^{\gamma}x : \gamma \in \Gamma\}$ of x.

Theorem 3.2. Let Γ be a countable group and $f \in \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$ an element which is invertible in $\ell^1(\Gamma)$. If $w_f^{\mathbb{H}} = f^{-1} \in \ell^1(\Gamma)$ and $\xi = \rho \circ \mathbb{R}_{w_f^{\mathbb{H}}} : \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z}) \to X_f$, then ξ is a surjective group homomorphism with the following properties.

- 1. $\ker(\xi) = R_f(\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z}));$
- 2. $\xi \circ L^{\gamma} = \alpha_f^{\gamma} \circ \xi$ for every $\gamma \in \Gamma$
- 3. ξ is continuous in the weak*-topology on closed, bounded subsets of $\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})$.

Proof: Set $\tilde{w} = (f^*)^{-1} = (f^{-1})^*$. By defintion, $R_f \tilde{w} = \tilde{w} \cdot f^* = e(1)$ and hence $\tilde{w} \in W_f$ and $x_f^{\mathbb{H}} = \rho(\tilde{w}) \in X_f$. Since $\tilde{w} \in \ell^1(\Gamma)$, $x_f^{\mathbb{H}} \in \mathbb{H}_{\alpha_f}(X_f)$.

The L-invariance of W_f implies that $R_{w_f^{\mathbb{H}}}h = L_h \tilde{w} \in W_f$, for every $h \in \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$. Since W_f is weak*-closed and $R_{w_f^{\mathbb{H}}}$ is weak*-continuous on bounded subsets of $\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})$ it follows that

$$R_{w_f^{\mathbb{H}}}(\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})) \subseteq W_f$$
.

For proving $R_{w_f^{\mathbb{H}}}(\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma,\mathbb{Z})) = W_f$ fix $w \in W_f$, set $v = R_f w \in \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma,\mathbb{Z})$ and obtain that $w = R_{w_f^{\mathbb{H}}}v$. The group homomorphism

$$\xi = \rho \circ \mathbf{R}_{w_f^{\mathbb{H}}} : \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z}) \to X_f$$

is thus surjective, and the equivariance of ξ is obvious and (1.) follows by the definition of ρ . If $B \subset \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})$ is a closed, bounded subset, then the weak*-topology coincides with the topology of coordinate-wise convergence, and ξ is obviously continuous in that topology.

Let Γ be a countable discrete group and $K \subset \Gamma$ a finite set. A finite set $Q \subset \Gamma$ is **left** (K, ε) -invariant if

$$\sum_{\gamma \in K} |\gamma Q \Delta Q| / |Q| < \varepsilon \,,$$

and **right** (K, ε) -invariant if

$$\sum_{\gamma \in K} |Q\gamma \Delta Q|/|Q| < \varepsilon.$$

If Q satisfies both these conditions it is (K, ε) -invariant.

A sequence $(Q_n, n \ge 1)$ of finite subsets of Γ is a **left Følner sequence** if there exists, for every finite subset $K \subset \Gamma$ and every $\varepsilon > 0$, an $N \ge 1$ such that Q_n is left (K, ε) -invariant for every $n \ge N$. The definitions of right and two-sided Følner sequences are analogous. The group Γ is **amenable** if it has a left Følner sequence.

Definition. Let X be a compact topological group with a left X-invariant metric δ . Let Γ be an amenable group that operates form the left on X^{Γ} by L^{γ} . Let Y be a closed Γ -invariant subset of X. For $F \subset \Gamma$, a subset $E \subset Y$ is called (F, ε) -separated if for all $x, y \in E$ with $x \neq y$ there exists a $\gamma \in F$ with $\delta(x_{\gamma}, y_{\gamma}) \geq \varepsilon$. Denote by $s_{F}(\varepsilon)$ the maximum of the cardinalities of all (F, ε) -separated subsets. The **topological entropy** of Γ is defined by

$$\mathbf{h} := \mathbf{h}_{\text{sep}} := \mathbf{h}(\mathbf{L}|_{Y}) := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{|F_{n}|} \log s_{F_{n}}(\varepsilon).$$

Definition. Let $\Gamma' \subset \Gamma$ and denote by $\operatorname{Fix}_{\Gamma'}(X_f) = \{x \in X_f : \alpha_f^{\gamma} x = x \text{ for every } \gamma \in \Gamma'\}$ the subgroup of Γ' -invariant points in X_f .

The subgroup $\operatorname{Fix}_{\Gamma'}(X_f)$ is Γ' -invariant, and $\operatorname{Fix}_{\Gamma'}(X_f)$ is Γ -invariant if and only if Γ' is a normal subgroup of Γ .

Set

$$\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma)^{\Gamma'} = \{ w \in \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma) : L^{\gamma}w = w \text{ for every } \gamma \in \Gamma' \},$$

$$W_f^{\Gamma'} = W_f \cap \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma)^{\Gamma'} \text{ and}$$

$$\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma'} = \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z}) \cap \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma)^{\Gamma'}.$$

Definition. A countable group Γ is said to be **residually finite** if there is a sequence Γ_n of normal subgroups of finite index with

$$\bigcap_{n\neq 1}\Gamma_n=\{1\}\,.$$

Let Γ be a countable residually finite discrete group. If $(\Gamma_n, n \ge 1)$ is a sequence of finite index normal subgroups in Γ , then

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\Gamma_n=\{1\}$$

will denote the fact that for every finite set $K \subset \Gamma$ there exists an $N \ge 1$ with $\Gamma_n \cap (K^{-1}K) = \{1\}$, for every $n \ge N$.

Theorem 3.3. Let Γ be a countable residually finite group, $f \in \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$. For every subgroup $\Gamma' \subset \Gamma$ of finite index

$$\operatorname{Fix}_{\Gamma'}(X_f) = \xi(\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma'}) \cong \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma'}/\operatorname{R}_f(\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma'}).$$

Proof: From the equivariance of ξ it is clear that $\xi(\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma'}) \subseteq \operatorname{Fix}_{\Gamma'}(X_f)$. Conversely, if $x \in \operatorname{Fix}_{\Gamma'}(X_f)$, then there exists a $w \in W_f^{\Gamma'} \subseteq \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma)^{\Gamma'}$ with $\rho(w) = x$, and the point $v = \operatorname{R}_f w \in \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma'}$ satisfies that $\xi(v) = x$. This proves that $\xi(\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma'}) = \operatorname{Fix}_{\Gamma'}(X_f)$ and Theorem 3.2 guarantees that $\operatorname{ker}(\xi) \cap \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma'} = \operatorname{R}_f(\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma'})$. The last equation is obvious. \square

Corollary 3.4. If $|\Gamma' \setminus \Gamma| < \infty$, where $\Gamma' \setminus \Gamma$ denotes the right coset space, then $|\operatorname{Fix}_{\Gamma'}(X_f)| = |\det(R_f|_{\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma,\mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma'}})|$.

Proof: If the right coset space $\Gamma' \backslash \Gamma$ is finite then $\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma)^{\Gamma'} \cong \ell(\Gamma' \backslash \Gamma, \mathbb{R})$. Let $R_f|_{\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma'}}$ be the restriction to $\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma'}$. Then $R_f(\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma'}) \subseteq \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma'}$ and the absolute value of the determinant $|\det(R_f|_{\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma'}})|$ is equal to $|\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma'}/R_f(\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma'})|$.

Definition. Let $\Gamma' \subset \Gamma$ be a subgroup with finite index. A finite subset $Q \subset \Gamma$ is said to be a **fundamental domain** of the right coset space $\Gamma' \setminus \Gamma$ if $\{\gamma Q \colon \gamma \in \Gamma'\}$ is a partition of Γ .

Remark 3.5. Since α_f is expansive, $\ker(\mathbf{R}_f) = 0$ by Theorem 3.1, and so there is a $\gamma \in \Gamma$ with $\delta(x_{\gamma}, x_{\gamma'}) \geq (3\|f\|_1)^{-1}$ for every pair of distinct points $x, x' \in X_f$. For $\Gamma' \subset \Gamma$ and Q a fundamental domain one gets that $\operatorname{Fix}_{\Gamma'}(X_f)$ is $(Q, (3\|f\|_1)^{-1})$ -separated.

Theorem 3.6. [12, Proposition 5.5] and [37] Let Γ be a countable residually finite amenable group and let $(\Gamma_n, n \geq 1)$ be a sequence of finite index normal subgroups with $\lim_{n\to\infty} \Gamma_n = \{1\}$. Then there exists, for every finite subset $K \subset \Gamma$ and every $\bar{\varepsilon} > 0$, an integer $M = M(K, \bar{\varepsilon}) \geq 1$ such that every Γ_n with $n \geq M$ has a $(K, \bar{\varepsilon})$ -invariant fundamental domain Q_n of the coset space $\Gamma^{(n)} = \Gamma_n \setminus \Gamma$.

Corollary 3.7. [12, Corollary 5.6] Let Γ be a countable residually finite amenable group and let $(\Gamma_n, n \geq 1)$ be a sequence of finite index normal subgroups with $\lim_{n\to\infty} \Gamma_n = \{1\}$. Then there exists a Følner sequence $(Q_n, n \geq 1)$ such that Q_n is a fundamental domain of $\Gamma^{(n)}$ for every $n \geq 1$.

Lemma 3.8. For $x \in X_f$ there exists an element $v \in \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})$ with $\xi(v) = x$ and $||v||_{\infty} \le ||f||_1/2$.

Proof: Choose $w \in W_f \subset \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma)$ with $\rho(w) = x$ and $-1/2 \le w_{\gamma} \le 1/2$ for every $\gamma \in \Gamma$. Then $v = R_f w \in \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z}), ||v||_{\infty} \le ||f||_1/2$ and $\xi(v) = x$ by Theorem 3.2.

Theorem 3.9. Let Γ be a countable residually finite amenable group and let $(\Gamma_n, n \geq 1)$ be a sequence of finite index normal subgroups with $\lim_{n\to\infty} \Gamma_n = \{1\}$. If $f \in \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$, and if the algebraic Γ -action α_f on X_f is expansive, then

$$\mathbf{h}(\alpha_f) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{|\Gamma^{(n)}|} \log |\operatorname{Fix}_{\Gamma_n}(X_f)| = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{|\Gamma^{(n)}|} \log |\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma_n}/R_f(\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma_n})|$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{|\Gamma^{(n)}|} \log |\det(R_f|_{\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma_n}})|.$$

Proof: Choose a Følner sequence $(Q_n, n \ge 1)$ in Γ such that Q_n is a fundamental domain of $\Gamma^{(n)}$, for every $n \ge 1$, this can be done because of Corollary 3.7. Theorem 3.3 and Corollary 3.4 show that there exists, for every $n \ge 1$, a $(Q_n, (3||f||_1)^{-1})$ -separated set of cardinality

$$|\operatorname{Fix}_{\Gamma_n}(X_f)| = |\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma_n} / \operatorname{R}_f(\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma_n}) = |\det(\operatorname{R}_f|_{\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma)^{\Gamma_n}})|.$$

Since $(Q_n, n \ge 1)$ is a Følner sequence and $|Q_n| = |\Gamma^{(n)}|$ this implies that

$$\mathbf{h}(\alpha_f) \ge \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{|Q_n|} \log |\operatorname{Fix}_{\Gamma_n}(X_f)|, \qquad (3.7)$$

by the definition of \mathbf{h} .

Conversely, let $\delta > 0$, $\varepsilon < \delta/3$, and let F_{ε} be a finite symmetric set with $\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma \setminus F_{\varepsilon}} |w_{\gamma}^{\mathbb{H}}| < \varepsilon/\|f\|_1$. The sets $P_n = Q_n \cap \bigcap_{\gamma \in F_{\varepsilon}} Q_n \gamma, n \geq 1$, form a Følner sequence with $\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{|P_n|}{|Q_n|} = 1$. Fix $n \geq 1$ and choose a maximal set $S_{n,\delta} \subset X_f$ which is (P_n, δ) -separated. For every $x \in S_{n,\delta}$ there is a $w(x) \in W_f \subset \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma)$ with $\|w(x)\|_{\infty} \leq \|f\|_1/2$ and $\rho(w(x)) = x$ by Lemma 3.8 and write $v(x) \in \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z})^{\Gamma_n}$ for the unique point with $v(x)_{\gamma} = (R_f w(x))_{\gamma}$ for every $\gamma \in Q_n$. This choice of F_{ε} implies that the points $\{\xi(v(x)) : x \in S_{n,\delta}\} \subset \operatorname{Fix}_{\Gamma_n}(X_f)$ are $(P_n, \delta/3)$ -separated and therefore distinct, Theorem 3.3 shows that $|S_{n,\delta}| \leq |\operatorname{Fix}_{\Gamma_n}(X_f)|$. Since $(P_n, n \geq 1)$ is Følner sequence and $\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{|P_n|}{|Q_n|} = 1$ this implies that

$$\mathbf{h}(\alpha_f) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{|P_n|} \log |S_{n,\delta}| \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{|Q_n|} \log |\operatorname{Fix}_{\Gamma_n}(X_f)|. \tag{3.8}$$

The theorem follows by combining (3.7) and (3.8).

3.3 Fuglede-Kadison-Determinant Entropy Formula II

Let $\ell^p(\Gamma, \mathbb{C})$ denote the complex ℓ^p -space of Γ for $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ with its conjugate linear involution $w \mapsto w^*$ given by $(w^*)_{\gamma} = \overline{w}_{\gamma^{-1}}, \gamma \in \Gamma$. The **group von Neumann algebra** $\mathcal{N}\Gamma$ of a discrete group Γ can be defined as the algebra of left Γ -equivariant bounded operators of $\ell^2(\Gamma, \mathbb{C})$ to itself.

The homomorphism of \mathbb{C} -algebras with involution:

$$R: \ell^1(\Gamma, \mathbb{C}) \to \mathcal{N}\Gamma$$

mapping f to the operator R_f with $R_f(v) = v \cdot f^*$ is injective because $R_f(e(1)) = f^*$. The von Neumann trace on $\mathcal{N}\Gamma$ is the linear form

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma}: \mathcal{N}\Gamma \to \mathbb{C}$$

mapping A to $\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma}(A) = (A(e(1)), e(1)).$

The trace is faithful in the sense that $\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma} A = 0$ for a positive operator A in $\mathcal{N}\Gamma$ implies that A = 0. Moreover $\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma}$ vanishes on commutators and satisfies the estimate $|\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma} A| \leq ||A||$. On $\ell^1(\Gamma, \mathbb{C})$ it is given by $\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma}(w) = w(1)$.

The Fuglede-Kadison determinant $\mathrm{Det}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma}$ of $A \in (\mathcal{N}\Gamma)^{\times}$ is defined as in Chapter 1. If the group Γ is finite one has $\mathcal{N}\Gamma = \mathbb{C}[\Gamma]$ and

$$Det_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma}A = |\det A|^{1/|\Gamma|} \tag{3.9}$$

by [24, Examples 1.3., 2.5., 3.12.].

Theorem 3.10. Let Γ be a countable discrete amenable and residually finite group and $f \in \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$ which is invertible in $L^1(\Gamma)$. Then

$$\mathbf{h}(f) = \log \mathrm{Det}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma} f$$
.

Let Γ be a countable residually finite discrete group and let $(\Gamma_n, n \ge 1)$ be a sequence of finite index normal subgroups with $\lim_{n\to\infty} \Gamma_n = \{1\}$.

For f in $\ell^1(\Gamma, \mathbb{C})$ the bounded operator $R_f : \ell^2(\Gamma, \mathbb{C}) \to \ell^2(\Gamma, \mathbb{C})$ given by right convolution with f^* satisfies the norm estimate

$$\|\mathbf{R}_f\| \le \|f\|_1 \,. \tag{3.10}$$

The group Γ acts via L on $\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{C})$ and so there is an isomorphism of finite dimensional \mathbb{C} -vector spaces

$$\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{C})^{\Gamma_n} \cong \ell^{\infty}(\Gamma^{(n)}, \mathbb{C})$$

given by viewing left Γ_n -invariant functions on Γ as functions on $\Gamma^{(n)}$. Since R_f is left Γ_n equivariant it induces an endomorphism of $\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{C})^{\Gamma_n}$ and hence an endomorphism of $\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma^{(n)}, \mathbb{C}) = \mathbb{C}[\Gamma^{(n)}] = \ell^2(\Gamma^{(n)}, \mathbb{C})$ which will be denoted by:

$$R_f^{(n)}: \ell^2(\Gamma^{(n)}, \mathbb{C}) \to \ell^2(\Gamma^{(n)}, \mathbb{C}).$$

Consider the map:

$$\ell^1(\Gamma, \mathbb{C}) \to \ell^1(\Gamma^{(n)}, \mathbb{C})$$
 (3.11)

given by sending $f:\Gamma\to\mathbb{C}$ to the function $f^{(n)}:\Gamma^{(n)}\to\mathbb{C}$ defined by

$$f^{(n)}(\delta) = \sum_{\gamma \in \delta} f(\gamma) \,,$$

for all congruence classes in δ in $\Gamma^{(n)}$. Clearly, (3.11) is a homomorphism of \mathbb{C} -algebras with involution such that $||f^{(n)}||_1 \leq ||f||_1$. And so

$$\mathbf{R}_f^{(n)} = \mathbf{R}_{f^{(n)}} : \ell^2(\Gamma^{(n)}, \mathbb{C}) \to \ell^2(\Gamma^{(n)}, \mathbb{C}).$$

By the estimate (3.10) applied to $f^{(n)}$ and $\Gamma^{(n)}$ one gets $\|\mathbf{R}_{f^{(n)}}\| \leq \|f^{(n)}\|_1$. Using the last estimate one gets for all $n \geq 1$ that

$$\|\mathbf{R}_f^{(n)}\| \le \|f\|_1$$
.

From the definition of $\mathbf{R}_f^{(n)}$ the relation $\mathbf{R}_{fg}^{(n)} = \mathbf{R}_f^{(n)} \mathbf{R}_g^{(n)}$ follows. Hence $\mathbf{R}_f^{(n)}$ is invertible if f is invertible in $\ell^1(\Gamma, \mathbb{C})$ and one gets $(\mathbf{R}_f^{(n)})^{-1} = \mathbf{R}_{f^{-1}}^{(n)}$ and

$$\|(\mathbf{R}_f^{(n)})^{-1}\| \le \|f^{-1}\|_1$$
 for f in $\ell^1(\Gamma, \mathbb{C})^{\times}$ and all $n \ge 1$.

By equation (3.9)

$$\log \operatorname{Det}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma^{(n)}} f^{(n)} = \frac{1}{|\Gamma^{(n)}|} \log |\det \mathbf{R}_{f^{(n)}}| = \frac{1}{|\Gamma^{(n)}|} \log |\det (\mathbf{R}_f|_{\ell^{\infty}(\Gamma, \mathbb{C})^{\Gamma_n}})| \,.$$

Theorem 3.11. Let Γ be a countable discrete residually finite group and $(\Gamma_n, n \geq 1)$ a sequence of finite index normal subgroups with $\lim_{n\to\infty} \Gamma_n = \{1\}$. If f in $\ell^1(\Gamma, \mathbb{C})^{\times}$, then

$$\operatorname{Det}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma} f = \lim_{n \to \infty} \operatorname{Det}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma^{(n)}} f^{(n)}.$$

Proof: Because of the relation $(ff^*)^{(n)} = f^{(n)}f^{(n)*}$ the assertion means:

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma} \log \mathbf{R}_g = \lim_{n \to \infty} \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma^{(n)}} \log \mathbf{R}_{g^{(n)}}$$

for $g = ff^*$ in $\ell^1(\Gamma, \mathbb{C})^{\times}$. But $R_g = R_f R_f^*$ and $R_{g^{(n)}} = R_{f^{(n)}} R_{f^{(n)}}^*$ are positive operators on $\ell^2(\Gamma, \mathbb{C})$. By the remarks just above the theorem applied to g and g^{-1} instead of f it follows that the spectra $\sigma(R_g)$ and $\sigma(R_{g^{(n)}})$ lie in the closed interval $I = [\|g\|_1^{-1}, \|g\|_1]$. Fix $\varepsilon > 0$. By the Weierstrass approximation theorem there exists a real polynomial Q such that

$$\sup_{t \in I} |\log t - Q(t)| \le \varepsilon.$$

Since the spectra of R_g and $R_{g^{(n)}}$ lie in I it follows that

$$\|\log R_q - Q(R_q)\| \le \varepsilon$$
 and $\|\log R_{q^{(n)}} - Q(R_{q^{(n)}})\| \le \varepsilon$.

Using the estimate $|\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma} A| \leq ||A||$ one has:

$$\begin{split} &|\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma} \log \mathbf{R}_{g} - \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma^{(n)}} \log \mathbf{R}_{g^{(n)}}| \\ &\leq |\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma} (\log \mathbf{R}_{g} - Q(\mathbf{R}_{g}))| + |\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma} Q(\mathbf{R}_{g}) - \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma^{(n)}} Q(\mathbf{R}_{g^{(n)}})| + |\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma^{(n)}} (\log \mathbf{R}_{g^{(n)}} - Q(\mathbf{R}_{g^{(n)}}))| \\ &\leq \|\log \mathbf{R}_{g} - Q(\mathbf{R}_{g})\| + |\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma} Q(\mathbf{R}_{g}) - \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma/\Gamma_{n}} Q(\mathbf{R}_{g^{(n)}})| + \|\log \mathbf{R}_{g^{(n)}} - Q(\mathbf{R}_{g^{(n)}})\| \\ &\leq 2\varepsilon + |\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma} Q(g) - \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma^{(n)}} Q(g^{(n)})|. \end{split}$$

The formula is a consequence of the following Lemma 3.12.

Lemma 3.12. For any f in $\ell^1(\Gamma, \mathbb{C})$ and any complex polynomial Q(t) the following limit holds

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma} Q(f) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma^{(n)}} Q(f^{(n)}).$$

Proof: Since Q(f) is in $\ell^1(\Gamma, \mathbb{C})$ and $Q(f)^{(n)} = Q(f^{(n)})$ it suffices to prove the assertion for Q(t) = t, i.e.

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma} f = \lim_{n \to \infty} \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma^{(n)}} f^{(n)},$$

for all f in $\ell^1(\Gamma, \mathbb{C})$. Writing $f = \sum_{\gamma} f_{\gamma} e(\gamma)$, one gets $f^{(n)} = \sum_{\gamma} f_{\gamma} e(\overline{\gamma})$ where $\overline{\gamma} = \Gamma_n \gamma$. Hence,

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma} f = f_1 \quad ext{and} \quad \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma^{(n)}} f^{(n)} = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_n} f_{\gamma} \,.$$

Fix some $\varepsilon > 0$. If, f is in $\ell^1(\Gamma, \mathbb{C})$, then $\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} |f_\gamma| < \infty$. Hence there is a finite subset K of Γ with $1 \in K$ and so one gets $\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma \setminus K} |f_\gamma| < \varepsilon$. Since $\lim_{n \to \infty} \Gamma_n = \{1\}$ there is an index $N \ge 1$ such that $\Gamma_n \cap K^{-1}K = \{1\}$ for all $n \ge N$. Since $1 \in K$ it follows that $\Gamma_n \cap K = \{1\}$ for all $n \ge N$ as well. For $n \ge N$ the following estimate holds:

$$|\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma} f - \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\Gamma^{(n)}} f^{(n)}| = |f_1 - \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_n} f_{\gamma}| \le \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_n \setminus \{1\}} |f_{\gamma}| \le \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma \setminus K} |f_{\gamma}| < \varepsilon.$$

Proof of Theorem 3.10: The theorem follows by combining the results of Theorem 3.1, Theorem 3.9 and Theorem 3.11. \Box

At the end of this chapter the case $\Gamma = \mathbb{Z}^d$ will be regarded. An element $\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ acts isometrically on $L^2(\mathbb{T}^d)$ by pointwise multiplication with the function $\mathbb{T}^d \to \mathbb{C}$ which maps (z_1, z_2, \ldots, z_d) to $(z_1^{k_1}, z_2^{k_2}, \ldots, z_d^{k_d})$. The Fourier transform provides an isometric \mathbb{Z}^d -equivariant isomorphism of Hilbert spaces $\mathcal{F}: \ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d) \to L^2(\mathbb{T}^d)$.

Definition. For every $\mathbf{n} = (n_1, \dots, n_d) \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and $\mathbf{t} = (t_1, \dots, t_d) \in \mathbb{T}^d$ let $\langle \mathbf{n}, \mathbf{t} \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^d n_i t_i$. The Fourier transform of $f \in \mathbb{C}[\mathbb{Z}^d]$ is given by

$$\mathcal{F}(f)(\mathbf{t}) = \sum_{\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d} f_{\mathbf{n}} e^{2\pi i \langle \mathbf{n}, \mathbf{t} \rangle}.$$

Let $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d)$ and define an \mathbb{Z}^n -equivariant operator $M_f : L^2(\mathbb{T}^d) \to L^2(\mathbb{T}^d)$ which sends $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}^d)$ to $g \cdot f$. And so one obtains an isomorphism

$$L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d) \stackrel{\cong}{\longrightarrow} \mathcal{N} \mathbb{Z}^d$$
.

The trace $\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\mathbb{Z}^d}$ can be rewritten as

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{N}\mathbb{Z}^d}(A) = (A(e(1)), e(1)) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \mathcal{F}(A(e(1))) \, d\mu \,.$$

If $f \in \mathbb{C}[\mathbb{Z}^d]$, then $\mathcal{F}(R_f(0)) = \mathcal{F}(f^*) = \overline{f}$ and so one gets the following entropy for $f \in L^1(\mathbb{Z}^d)^{\times}$:

$$\mathbf{h}(f) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \log |f(z)| \, d\mu(z) \,.$$

3 Algebraic Actions

In [23] it was shown that this entropy formula holds for general \mathbb{Z}^d -actions. For a detailed study of \mathbb{Z}^d -actions consult [32].

4 The Harmonic Model

Reference(s): [33]

First, the model will be introduced and the ASM will be used to find a symbolic cover of this dynamical system. Then the entropy of the harmonic model will be calculated.

4.1 Introduction

Let $R_d = \mathbb{Z}\left[u_1^{\pm 1}, u_2^{\pm 1}, \dots, u_d^{\pm 1}\right] \subset \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ be the ring of Laurent polynomials. An element of this space will be written as $h = (h_{\mathbf{n}}) = \sum_{\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d} h_{\mathbf{n}} u^{\mathbf{n}}$.

Let d > 1. Define the shift-action α of \mathbb{Z}^d on $\mathbb{T}^{\mathbb{Z}^d}$ by

$$(\alpha^{\mathbf{m}}x)_{\mathbf{n}} = x_{\mathbf{m}+\mathbf{n}},$$

for every $\mathbf{m}, \mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and $x = (x_{\mathbf{n}}) \in \mathbb{T}^{\mathbb{Z}^d}$. To every $h \in R_d$ a group homomorphism will be associated by

$$h(\alpha) = \sum_{\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^d} h_{\mathbf{m}} \alpha^{\mathbf{m}} : \mathbb{T}^{\mathbb{Z}^d} \longrightarrow \mathbb{T}^{\mathbb{Z}^d}.$$

Let $f^{(d)} \in R_d$ and $X_{f^{(d)}} \subset \mathbb{T}^{\mathbb{Z}^d}$ be the subgroup

$$X_{f^{(d)}} = \ker f^{(d)}(\alpha) = \left\{ x = (x_{\mathbf{n}}) \in \mathbb{T}^{\mathbb{Z}^d} : \left(f^{(d)}(\alpha) \cdot x \right)_{\mathbf{n}} = 0 \text{ for every } \mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d \right\}.$$

The restriction of α to $X_{f^{(d)}}$ will be denoted by $\alpha_{f^{(d)}}$. The \mathbb{Z}^d -action of $\alpha_{f^{(d)}}$ preserves the normalised Haar measure $\lambda_{X_{f^{(d)}}}$ of $X_{f^{(d)}}$, which is the measure of maximal entropy [32, Theorem 13.3].

Let G be an unweighted graph with vertex set \mathbb{Z}^d and bounded edge degree. Now a Laurent-polynomial is associated to this graph G. Let $\mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and write $\mathbf{u}^{\mathbf{y}} = u_1^{y_1} u_2^{y_2} \cdots u_d^{y_d}$. The Laplace-polynomial of a graph G is defined by

$$\Delta_G(\mathbf{u}) = \sum_{\mathbf{y} \sim \mathbf{0}} (\mathbf{u}^{\mathbf{0}} - \mathbf{u}^{\mathbf{y}}).$$

The Laplace polynomial of the nearest neighbour graph on \mathbb{Z}^2 is given by:

$$\Delta_{\mathbb{Z}^2}(\mathbf{u}) = 4 - u_1^1 - u_1^{-1} - u_2^1 - u_2^{-1}$$
.

For the remainder of this chapter fix $f^{(d)} = \Delta_{\mathbb{Z}^d}(\mathbf{u}) = 2d - \sum_{i=1}^d (u_i + u_i^{-1})$. Elements $x \in X_{f^{(d)}}$ can be viewed as **harmonic** (mod 1) w.r.t G because, for every $\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$, $\deg_G(\mathbf{n}) \cdot x_{\mathbf{n}}$ is the sum of its $\deg_G(\mathbf{n})$ neighbouring coordinates (mod 1). The dynamical system $(X_{f^{(d)}}, \mathbb{Z}^d)$ or $(X_{f^{(d)}}, \alpha_{f^{(d)}})$ will be called the **harmonic model**.

In the next section a symbolic cover of $X_{f^{(d)}}$ will be constructed by a shift-equivariant group homomorphism from $\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d,\mathbb{Z})$ to $X_{f^{(d)}}$. For this purpose a few preparations must be made. Many definitons and concepts of the last chapter will be used, but often with other descriptions or

stronger restrictions. These restrictions are necessary because the action $\alpha_{f^{(d)}}$ is non-expansive.

The cartesian product $W_d = \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{Z}^d}$ will be identified with the set of formal real power series in the variables $u_1^{\pm 1}, u_2^{\pm 1}, \dots, u_d^{\pm 1}$ by viewing each $w = (w_{\mathbf{n}})$ as the power series

$$\sum_{\mathbf{n}\in\mathbb{Z}^d}w_{\mathbf{n}}u^{\mathbf{n}}$$

with $w_{\mathbf{n}} \in \mathbb{R}$ and $u^{\mathbf{n}} = u_1^{n_1} \cdots u_d^{n_d}$, for every $\mathbf{n} = (n_1, \dots, n_d) \in \mathbb{Z}^d$. The involution $w \mapsto w^*$ on W_d is defined by

$$w_{\mathbf{n}}^* = w_{-\mathbf{n}}, \mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$$
.

It is clear that the Laurent polynomials R_d lie in W_d . For $E \subseteq \mathbb{Z}^d$ denote the projection onto the coordinates in E by $\pi_E : W_d \to \mathbb{R}^E$.

Next automorphic representations of \mathbb{Z}^d will be introduced: The map $(\mathbf{m}, u) \mapsto u^{\mathbf{m}} \cdot w$ with $(u^{\mathbf{m}} \cdot w)_{\mathbf{n}} = w_{\mathbf{n}-\mathbf{m}}$ is a \mathbb{Z}^d -action by automorphisms of the additive group W_d which extends linearly to an R_d -action on W_d given by

$$h \cdot w = \sum_{\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d} h_{\mathbf{n}} u^{\mathbf{n}} \cdot w \,,$$

for every $h \in R_d$ and $w \in W_d$.

Next a fundamental solution $w^{(d)}$ of the equation

$$f^{(d)} \cdot w = e(1) \tag{4.1}$$

will be defined as follows:

1. For d = 2,

$$w_{\mathbf{n}}^{(2)} := \int_{\mathbf{T}^d} \frac{e^{-2\pi i \langle \mathbf{n}, \mathbf{t} \rangle} - 1}{\mathcal{F}(f^{(2)})(\mathbf{t})} \text{for every } \mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^2.$$

2. For d > 2,

$$w_{\mathbf{n}}^{(d)} := \int_{\mathbf{T}^d} \frac{e^{-2\pi i \langle \mathbf{n}, \mathbf{t} \rangle}}{\mathcal{F}(f^{(d)})(\mathbf{t})} \text{for every } \mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d.$$

Let

$$I_d = \{ g \in R_d : g \cdot w^{(d)} \in \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^d) \} \supseteq (f^{(d)}),$$

where $(f^{(d)}) = f^{(d)} \cdot R_d$ is the principal ideal generated by $f^{(d)}$. Consult [33, Theorem 2.2] and the references cited there to see that $w^{(d)}$ is a solution of (4.1) and behaves asymptotically well (for $\|\mathbf{n}\| \to \infty$). In [33, Theorem 2.4] it was shown that the ideal I_d is of the form

$$I_d = (f^{(d)}) + \mathfrak{J}_d^3,$$
 (4.2)

where

$$\mathfrak{J}_d^n := \left\{ h \in R_d : \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|} h}{\partial^{\alpha_1} u_1 \dots \partial^{\alpha_d} u_d} (\mathbf{1}) = 0, \text{ for all } \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d \text{ with } |\alpha| = \sum_{i=1}^d \alpha_i = n-1 \right\}.$$

Next a linearization of $X_{f^{(d)}}$ will be constructed. Therefor, define the surjective map $\rho: W_d = \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{Z}^d} \to \mathbb{T}^{\mathbb{Z}^d}$ by

$$\rho(w)_{\mathbf{n}} = w_{\mathbf{n}} \pmod{1},$$

for every $\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and $w \in W_d$ and let

$$(\sigma^{\mathbf{m}}w)_{\mathbf{n}} = (u^{-\mathbf{m}}w)_{\mathbf{n}}.$$

Set $W_d(\mathbb{Z}) = \mathbb{Z}^{\mathbb{Z}^d} \subset W_d$ and define the linearization of $X_{f^{(d)}}$ by

$$W_{f^{(d)}} := \rho^{-1}(X_{f^{(d)}}) = \{ w \in W_d : \rho(w) \in X_{f^{(d)}} \}$$

$$= \{ w \in W_d : (f^{(d)}(\alpha)(\rho(w)))_{\mathbf{n}} = 0 \text{ for all } \mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d \}$$

$$= \{ w \in W_d : (f^{(d)} \cdot w)_{\mathbf{n}} \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ for all } \mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d \} = \{ w \in W_d : f^{(d)} \cdot w \in W_d(\mathbb{Z}) \}.$$
(4.3)

Let

$$|t|_{\text{mod }1} = \min\{|t - n| : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}, t \in \mathbb{R}$$

and

$$\mathbb{H}_{\alpha}^{(1)}(X_{f^{(d)}}) = \left\{ x \in X_{f^{(d)}} : \lim_{\|\mathbf{n}\| \to \infty} \alpha_{f^{(d)}}^{\mathbf{n}} x = 0 \text{ and } \sum_{\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}} |x_{\mathbf{n}}|_{\text{mod}1} < \infty \right\}$$

be the subset of homoclinic points of $\alpha_{f^{(d)}}$ with $\alpha_{f^{(d)}}^{\mathbf{n}} x \to 0$ sufficient fast as $\|\mathbf{n}\| \to \infty$. Next recall the definition of $W_{f^{(d)}}$ and set $x^{\mathbb{H}} = \rho(w^{(d)}) \in X_{f^{(d)}}$.

Theorem 4.1. Every homoclinic point $z \in X_{f^{(d)}}$ of $\alpha_{f^{(d)}}$ is of the form $z = \rho(h \cdot w^{(d)})$ for some $h \in R_d$ and

$$\mathbb{H}_{\alpha}^{(1)}(X_{f^{(d)}}) = \rho(\{h \cdot w^{(d)} : h \in I_d\}).$$

Proof: Let $z \in X_{f^{(d)}}$ be a homoclinic point of $\alpha_{f^{(d)}}$. Choose $w \in \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ with $\rho(w) = z$ and $\lim_{\|\mathbf{n}\| \to \infty} w_{\mathbf{n}} = 0$. The smallness of most of the coordinates of w together with the fact that $f^{(d)} \cdot w \in W_d(\mathbb{Z})$ (see (4.3)) guarantee that $f^{(d)} \cdot w \in R_d$. The first part of the Theorem follows from

$$f^{(d)} \cdot w \cdot w^{(d)} = w \cdot f^{(d)} \cdot w^{(d)} = w \cdot 1 = w$$
,

where the commutativity of the convolution was used. If $z \in \mathbb{H}^{(1)}_{\alpha}(X_{f^{(d)}})$, then $w \in \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ and hence $h \in I_d$. Conversly, if $h \in I_d$, then $h \cdot w^{(d)} \in \ell^1(\mathbb{Z})$ and so $z = \rho(h \cdot w^{(d)}) \in \mathbb{H}^{(1)}_{\alpha}(X_{f^{(d)}})$. \square

4.2 Symbolic Cover

The next step is to construct for every homoclinic point $z \in \mathbb{H}^{(1)}_{\alpha}(X_{f^{(d)}})$ a shift equivariant group homomorphism from $\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d,\mathbb{Z})$ to $X_{f^{(d)}}$, which will be used to find symbolic covers of $(X_{f^{(d)}},\alpha_{f^{(d)}})$. Therefor fix g with $\rho(g\cdot w^{(d)})=z$ and define the group homomorphisms $\bar{\xi}_g:\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d)\to\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ and $\xi_g:\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d)\to\mathbb{T}^{\mathbb{Z}^d}$ by

$$\bar{\xi}_g(w) = (g \cdot w^{(d)})(\sigma)(w) = (g^* \cdot w^{(d)})(w) \text{ and } \xi_g(w) = (\rho \circ \bar{\xi}_g)(w).$$
 (4.4)

It is clear that

$$\bar{\xi}_g(w)_{\mathbf{n}} = \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^d} w_{\mathbf{n} - \mathbf{k}} \cdot (g^* \cdot w^{(d)})_{\mathbf{k}}$$

converges for every \mathbf{n} by the definitions and constructions of this chapter, hence the homomorphisms above are well defined and fulfil the following equivariance conditions:

$$\overline{\xi}_g \circ \sigma^{\mathbf{n}} = \sigma^{\mathbf{n}} \circ \overline{\xi}_g, \qquad \qquad \xi_g \circ \sigma^{\mathbf{n}} = \sigma^{\mathbf{n}} \circ \xi_g, \qquad (4.5)$$

$$\overline{\xi}_g \circ h(\sigma) = h(\sigma) \circ \overline{\xi}_g, \qquad \qquad \xi_g \circ h(\sigma) = h(\sigma) \circ \overline{\xi}_g.$$

Lemma 4.2. For every $w \in \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ and $g \in I_d$

$$(f^{(d)}(\sigma) \circ \overline{\xi}_{a})(w) = f^{(d)} \cdot (g^* \cdot w^{(d)}) \cdot w = g^* \cdot (f^{(d)} \cdot w^{(d)}) \cdot w = g^* \cdot w = g(\sigma) \cdot w \tag{4.6}$$

and $\xi_g(\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d,\mathbb{Z})) \subseteq X_{f^{(d)}}$.

Proof: By the remarks about $w^{(d)}$ at the beginning of the chapter one gets

$$f^{(d)} \cdot (h^* \cdot w^{(d)}) \cdot v = h^* \cdot (f^{(d)} \cdot w^{(d)}) \cdot v = h^* \cdot v, \tag{4.7}$$

for every $h, v \in R_d$. Fix $g \in I_d$ and let $K \ge 1$ and $V_K = \{-K+1, \dots, K-1\}^{\mathbb{Z}^d}$. Then V_K is shift-invariant and compact in the topology of coordinatewise convergence, and the set $V_K' \subset V_K$ of points with only finitely many nonzero coordinates is dense in V_K . For $v \in V_K' \subset R_d$ one has

$$\overline{\xi}_q(v) = (g^* \cdot w^{(d)}) \cdot v$$

and

$$(f^{(d)}(\sigma) \circ \overline{\xi}_g)(v) = f^{(d)} \cdot (g^* \cdot w^{(d)}) \cdot v = g^* \cdot (f^{(d)} \cdot w^{(d)}) \cdot v = g^* \cdot w = g(\sigma) \cdot v \tag{4.8}$$

by (4.4) and (4.7). Since both $\overline{\xi}_g$ and multiplication by g^* are continuous on V_K , (4.8) holds for every $v \in V_K$. By letting $K \to \infty$ one obtains (4.8), for every $\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d, \mathbb{Z})$, hence for every $v \in \frac{1}{M}\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d, \mathbb{Z})$ with $M \ge 1$, and finally, again by coordinatewise convergence, for every $w \in \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d, \mathbb{Z})$.

For the second statement use the fact that, for every $v \in V_K'$,

$$\xi_q(v) = \rho((g^* \cdot w^{(d)}) \cdot v) = (g \cdot v^*)(\alpha)(x^{\mathbb{H}}) \in X_{f^{(d)}}.$$

The continuity argument above yields that $\xi_g(v) \in X_{f^{(d)}}$, for every $v \in \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d, \mathbb{Z})$.

Theorem 4.3. If $g \in \widetilde{I}_d = I_d \setminus (f^{(d)})$ then

$$\xi_g(\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d,\mathbb{Z})) = \xi_g(\Lambda_{2d}) = X_{f^{(d)}}.$$

Proof: Let $x \in X_{f^{(d)}}$ and define $w \in W_{f^{(d)}}$ by $\rho(w) = x$ and $0 \le w_{\mathbf{n}} < 1$, for every $\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$. If $v = f^{(d)}(\sigma)(w)$, then $-2d + 1 \le v_{\mathbf{n}} \le 2d - 1$, for every $\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$. Since $\overline{\xi}_g$ commutes with $f^{(d)}(\sigma)$ by (4.5), (4.8) shows that

$$\xi_g(v) = (\rho \circ \overline{\xi}_g)(v) = g(\alpha)(x). \tag{4.9}$$

Hence

$$g(\alpha)(X_{f^{(d)}}) \subseteq \xi_g(V_{2d}) \subseteq \xi_g(\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d, \mathbb{Z})) \subseteq X_{f^{(d)}}. \tag{4.10}$$

It will be shown that $Z = g(\alpha)(X_{f^{(d)}}) = X_{f^{(d)}}$. Consider the exact sequence

$$\{0\} \to Y = \ker g(\alpha) \cap X_{f(d)} \to X_{f(d)} \xrightarrow{g(\alpha)} X_{f(d)} \to \{0\}. \tag{4.11}$$

Let α_Y and α_Z be the restrictions of α to Y and Z, and α' the action induced by α on $X_{f^{(d)}}/Z$. Yuzvinskii's addition formula [32, Theorem 14.1] implies that

$$\mathbf{h}(\alpha_{f^{(d)}}) = \mathbf{h}(\alpha_Y) + \mathbf{h}(\alpha_Z) = \mathbf{h}(\alpha') + \mathbf{h}(\alpha_Z),$$

where the fact is used that topological entropies of these actions coincide with their metric entropies with respect to the Haar measure. Since $g \in \widetilde{I}_d$, g and $f^{(d)}$ have no common factors, $\mathbf{h}(\alpha_Y) = 0$ by [32, Corollary 18.5] hence $\mathbf{h}(\alpha_{f^{(d)}}) = \mathbf{h}(\alpha_Z)$ and $0 < \mathbf{h}(\alpha_{f^{(d)}}) < \infty$. The Haar measure $\lambda_{X_{f^{(d)}}}$ of $X_{f^{(d)}}$ is the unique measure of maximal entropy for $\alpha_{f^{(d)}}$ as mentioned at the beginning of this chapter and so $\lambda_{X_{f^{(d)}}}(g(\alpha)(X_{f^{(d)}})) = 1$ and $g(\alpha)(X_{f^{(d)}}) = (X_{f^{(d)}})$ as claimed. So far one has

$$g(\alpha)(X_{f^{(d)}}) = \xi_g(V_{2d}) = \xi_g(\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d, \mathbb{Z})) = X_{f^{(d)}}.$$

Let $v' \in \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d, \mathbb{Z})$ with $v'_{\mathbf{n}} = 2d - 1$, for every $\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$, then $v' + V_{2d} = \Lambda_{4d-1}$ and so $\xi(\Lambda_{4d-1}) = \xi_g(V_{2d}) + \xi_g(v') = X_{f^{(d)}} + \xi_g(v') = X_{f^{(d)}}$. For $M \geq 1$ set

$$Q_M = \{-M, \dots, M\}^d \subset \mathbb{Z}^d .$$

For every $v \in \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d, \mathbb{Z}_+)$ and $\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ define

$$h^{(v,\mathbf{n})} = \begin{cases} u^{\mathbf{n}} \cdot f^{(d)} & \text{if } v_{\mathbf{n}} \ge 2d \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

$$H^{(v,\mathbf{n})} = \sum_{\mathbf{n} \in O_M} h^{(v,\mathbf{n})}, \quad T(v) = v - H^{(v,\mathbf{n})}.$$

If

$$D_M(v) = \sum_{\mathbf{n} \in Q_M} v_{\mathbf{n}} \|\mathbf{n}\|_{\text{max}}^2, \qquad (4.12)$$

where $\|\cdot\|_{\text{max}}$ is the maximum norm on \mathbb{R}^d , then T(v) = v if and only if $\mathbf{n} < 2d$ for every $\mathbf{n} \in Q_M$ and

$$D_M(T(v)) > D_M(v) + 2$$
.

Define inductively $T^n(v) = T(T^{n-1}(v))$, for $n \geq 2$, then there exists for every $v \in \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d, \mathbb{Z}_+)$ an integer $K_M(v) \geq 0$ with

$$\widetilde{v}^{(M)} = T^k(v)$$
, for every $k \ge K_M(v)$.

For $v \in \Lambda_{4d-1}$ and any $M \ge 1$, $\widetilde{v}^{(M)}$ satisfies

$$\begin{split} 0 &\leq \widetilde{v}_{\mathbf{n}}^{(M)} \leq 2d-1 & \text{if } \mathbf{n} \in Q_M \,, \\ \widetilde{v}_{\mathbf{n}}^{(M)} &\geq v_{\mathbf{n}} & \text{if } \|\mathbf{n}\| = M+1 \,, \\ \sum_{\{\mathbf{n}: \|\mathbf{n}\| = M+1\}} \widetilde{v}_{\mathbf{n}}^{(M)} - v_{\mathbf{n}} \leq (2d-1) \cdot (2M+1)^d \,, \\ \widetilde{v}_{\mathbf{n}}^{(M)} &= v_{\mathbf{n}} & \text{if } \|\mathbf{n}\| > M+1 \,. \end{split}$$

It is clear that $v - \widetilde{v}^{(M)} \in (f^{(d)})$ by construction of $H^{(v,\mathbf{n})}$. And so $\xi_g(v - \widetilde{v}^{(M)}) = 0$ because $v - \widetilde{v}^{(M)} = f^{(d)} \cdot h$ for an $h \in R_d$ and therefore $(g^* \cdot w^{(d)}) \cdot f^{(d)} \cdot h \in \mathbb{Z}$ for every $g \in \widetilde{I}_d$ and $v \in \Lambda_{4d-1}$; hence $\xi_g(v) = \xi_g(\widetilde{v}^{(M)})$. Since $g \in \widetilde{I}_d$, (4.2) implies that there exists a constant C > 0 with

$$|(g^* \cdot w^{(d)})_{\mathbf{n}}| \le C \|\mathbf{n}\|_{\max}^{d-1},$$
 for every nonzero $\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$.

Therefore,

$$|\overline{\xi}_{a}(\widetilde{v}^{(M)})_{\mathbf{0}} - \overline{\xi}_{a}(\overline{v}^{(M)})_{\mathbf{0}}| \le 4d \cdot (2M+1)^{d} \cdot C \cdot (M+1)^{d-1} \to 0$$

as $M \to \infty$ and where

$$\overline{v}^{(M)} = \begin{cases} \widetilde{v}_{\mathbf{n}}^{(M)} & \text{if } \mathbf{n} \in Q_M \\ v_{\mathbf{n}} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

And so

$$\lim_{M \to \infty} \overline{\xi}_g(v - \overline{v}^{(M)}) = 0$$

in the topology of coordinatewise convergence. Since

$$\overline{v}^{(M)} \in \{v \in \Lambda_{4d-1} : 0 \le v_{\mathbf{n}} \le 2d-1 \text{ for every } \mathbf{n} \in Q_M\},$$

for every $v \in \Lambda_{4d-1}$ and $M \ge 1$ one can conclude that $\xi_g(\Lambda_{2d})$ is dense in $X_{f^{(d)}}$. Since $\xi_g(\Lambda_{2d})$ is closed $\xi_g(\Lambda_{2d}) = X_{f^{(d)}}$.

In the last proof a toppling argument has occurred already - in the next step the Abelian Sandpile Model will be embedded in the algebraic setting of this chapter. First recall the definition of the ASM and put, for a finite set $K \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$,

$$P_K = \{v \in \{0, \dots, 2d-1\}^K : v_{\mathbf{n}} \ge N_K(\mathbf{n}) \text{ for at least one } \mathbf{n} \in K\},$$

then recurrent configurations on K can be written as

$$\mathcal{R}_K = \bigcap_{\substack{\emptyset \neq F \subset K, \\ 0 < |F| < \infty}} P_F.$$

Lemma 4.4. Let $d \geq 2$. The following conditions are equivalent for every $v \in \Lambda_{2d}$.

- 1. $v \in \mathfrak{R}_{\infty}$.
- 2. For every nonzero $h \in R_d$ with $h_{\mathbf{n}} \in \{0,1\}$ for every $\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$, $(f^{(d)} \cdot h)_{\mathbf{n}} + v_{\mathbf{n}} \ge 2d$ for at least one $\mathbf{n} \in \text{supp}(h) = \{\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^d : h_{\mathbf{m}} \ne 0\}$.
- 3. For every nonzero $h \in R_d$ with $h_{\mathbf{n}} > 0$ for every $\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$, $(f^{(d)} \cdot h)_{\mathbf{n}} + v_{\mathbf{n}} \ge 2d$ for at least one $\mathbf{n} \in \{\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^d : h_{\mathbf{m}} > 0\}$.

Furthermore, if $v, v' \in \mathfrak{R}_{\infty}$ and $0 \neq v - v' \in R_d$, then $v - v' \notin (f^{(d)})$.

Proof: $(2 \Rightarrow 1)$ Fix $v \in \Lambda_{2d}$. If $h \in R_d$ with $h_{\mathbf{n}} \in \{0, 1\}$, for every $\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and $E = \operatorname{supp}(h)$, then $(f^{(d)} \cdot h)_{\mathbf{n}} + v_{\mathbf{n}} \in \{0, 1, \dots, 2d - 1\}$, for every $\mathbf{n} \in E$ if and only if $v_{\mathbf{n}} \leq N_E(\mathbf{n}) - 1$. for every $\mathbf{n} \in E$, in this case $\pi_E(v) \notin P_E$ and $v \notin \mathfrak{R}_{\infty}$.

Let $h \in \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d, \mathbb{Z})$ and $M_h = \max_{\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^d} h_{\mathbf{m}} > 0$ and that $(f^{(d)} \cdot h) + v \in \Lambda_{2d}$. Set

$$S_{\max}(h) = \{ \mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d : h_{\mathbf{n}} = M_h \}$$

and observe that

$$v_{\mathbf{n}} + (f^{(d)} \cdot h)_{\mathbf{n}} \ge v_{\mathbf{n}} + M_h(2d - N_{\mathcal{S}_{\max}(h)}) < 2d$$

for every $\mathbf{n} \in S_{\max}(h)$ so that

$$v_{\mathbf{n}} \le N_{\mathcal{S}_{\max}(h)} - 1,$$
 for every $\mathbf{n} \in \mathcal{S}_{\max}(h)$. (4.13)

If $h \in R_d$, then $S_{\max}(h)$ is finite and so (4.13) yields to contradiction to the definition of \mathfrak{R}_{∞} . This proves the implication $(1 \Rightarrow 3)$ and the reverse implication $(3 \Rightarrow 2)$ is obvious. The last asseration is a consequence of (3).

Theorem 4.5. For every $g \in \tilde{I}_d$, $\xi_g(\mathcal{R}_{\infty}) = X_{f^{(d)}}$. Furthermore, the shift-action $\sigma_{\mathcal{R}_{\infty}}$ of \mathbb{Z}^d on \mathcal{R}_{∞} has topological entropy

$$\mathbf{h}(\sigma_{\mathcal{R}_{\infty}}) = \lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{|Q_N|} \log |\pi_{Q_N}(\mathcal{R}_{\infty})| = \mathbf{h}(\alpha_{f^{(d)}}). \tag{4.14}$$

For every $Q \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$ $v \in W_d$ set

$$S^{(Q)}(v) = \{ v' \in W_d : \pi_{\mathbb{Z}^d \setminus O}(v') = \pi_{\mathbb{Z}^d \setminus O}(v) \}.$$

If $V \subset W_d$ is a subset $S_V^{(Q)}(v) = S^{(Q)}(v) \cap V$. Fix $g \in \widetilde{I}_d$. Let $0 < \varepsilon < 1/4d$. Since $g^* \cdot w^{(d)} \in \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^d)$, there is a $K \geq 1$ with

$$|\overline{\xi}_g(v)_{\mathbf{0}} - \overline{\xi}_g(v')_{\mathbf{0}}| < \varepsilon,$$
 for every $v, v' \in \Lambda_{2d}$ with $\pi_{Q_K}(v') = \pi_{Q_K}(v)$. (4.15)

Lemma 4.6. Let $v \in \Lambda_{2d}$, $Q \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$ a finite set and $v' \in S_{\Lambda_{2d}}^{(Q)}(v)$.

- 1. $\xi_g(v') = \xi_g(v)$ if and only if $v' v \in (f^{(d)})$.
- 2. If $\xi_g(v') \neq \xi_g(v)$, then

$$|\xi_q(v')_{\mathbf{n}} - \xi_q(v)_{\mathbf{n}}|_{\text{mod }1} \ge 1/4d$$

for some $\mathbf{n} \in Q + Q_K$.

Proof: Assume that

$$|\xi_a(v')_{\mathbf{n}} - \xi_a(v)_{\mathbf{n}}|_{\text{mod }1} < 1/4d$$
, (4.16)

for every $\mathbf{n} \in Q + Q_K$. Since (4.16) holds automatically for $\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus (Q + Q_K)$ by (4.15) it holds for every $\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$. Choose $z \in W_{f^{(d)}}$ with $\rho(z) = \xi_g(v') - \xi_g(v)$ and $||z_{\mathbf{n}}||_{\max} < 1/4d$. Then $f^{(d)} \cdot z \in \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d, \mathbb{Z})$ and the smallness of the coordinates of z implies that $f^{(d)} \cdot z = 0$. Since $\rho(z) = \rho(\overline{\xi}_g(v') - \overline{\xi}_g(v)), \ z - (\overline{\xi}_g(v') - \overline{\xi}_g(v)) \in \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d, \mathbb{Z})$. As the coordinates of z are small and $\lim_{\|\mathbf{n}\| \to \infty} |\overline{\xi}_g(v') - \overline{\xi}_g(v)| = 0$ due to the continuity of $\overline{\xi}_g$, conclude that $h = z - (\overline{\xi}_g(v') - \overline{\xi}_g(v)) \in R_d$. According to (4.6)

$$f^{(d)} \cdot (z - (\overline{\xi}_g(v') - \overline{\xi}_g(v))) = f^{(d)} \cdot h = g^* \cdot (v' - v).$$

As R_d has a unique factorization and g^* is not divisible by $f^{(d)}$, v'-v must lie in the ideal $(f^{(d)}) \subset R_d$. The definitions of $w^{(d)}$ and $\overline{\xi}$ imply that $\xi_g(v') = \xi_g(v)$.

For $Q \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$ set

$$R(Q) = \{ h \in R_d : \operatorname{supp}(h) \subset Q \},$$

$$R^+(Q) = \{ h \in R(Q) : h_{\mathbf{n}} \ge 0 \text{ for every } \mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d \}.$$

For $L \geq 1$, $v \in \Lambda_{2d}$ and $q \geq 0$ set

$$Y_v(q) = \left\{ w \in S^{(Q_{L+K+1})}(v) : \text{ for every } \mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d, \ 0 \le w_{\mathbf{n}} < 2d \text{ if } \|\mathbf{n}\|_{\max} \ne L + K + 1 \right\}$$
 and $-q \le w_{\mathbf{n}} < 2d \text{ if } \|\mathbf{n}\|_{\max} = L + K + 1 \right\}$

and

$$Y'_v(q) = \{ w \in Y_v(q) : \pi_{Q_{L+K}}(w) \in \pi_{Q_{L+K}}(\mathcal{R}_\infty) \}.$$

The proofs of the next two lemmas are very technical and will not be given, but they can be found in [33, Lemma 5.5 und Lemma 5.6].

Lemma 4.7. [33, Lemma 5.5.] Let $L \ge 1$, $q \ge 0$ and $v \in \Lambda_{2d}$. Then

$$Y'_v(q) = Y_v(q) \setminus \bigcup_{0 \neq h \in S^+(Q_{L+K})} (Y_v(q+1) - h \cdot f^{(d)}).$$

Lemma 4.8. [33, Lemma 5.6.] For every $v \in \Lambda_{2d}$ and $L \geq 1$ there exists an $h \in R^+(Q_L)$ with $v' = v + h \cdot f^{(d)} \in Y_v'((2d-1) \cdot (2L+1)^d).$

Proof of Theorem 4.5. The same arguments as in the proof of Theorem 4.3 show that $\xi_g(\mathcal{R}_{\infty}) =$ $X_{f(d)}$. For this purpose only a few changes are required. Fix $\varepsilon > 0$ and choose K according to $(4.15). \text{ From Lemma 4.8 one gets } X_{f^{(d)}} = \xi_g(\Lambda_{2d}) = \xi_g(\Lambda_{2d}(L+K+1,(2d-1)\cdot(2L+2K+1)^d)),$

$$\begin{split} \Lambda_{2d}(M,q) &= \left\{ v \in \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^d,\mathbb{Z}) \ : \ v_{\mathbf{m}} < 2d \,, \ \text{for every } \mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d \,, \\ v_{\mathbf{n}} &\geq 0 \ , \text{for every } \mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d \ \text{with } \|\mathbf{n}\|_{\max} > M+1, \\ \sum_{\left\{\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d : \|\mathbf{n}\|_{\max} = M+1\right\}} v_{\mathbf{n}} &\geq -q \ \text{and} \ \pi_{Q_M}(v) \in \pi_{Q_M}(\mathcal{R}_{\infty}) \right\}. \end{split}$$

Since $\xi_q(\mathcal{R}_{\infty}) = X_{f^{(d)}}$ one has

$$\mathbf{h}(\sigma_{\mathcal{R}_{\infty}}) \geq \mathbf{h}(\alpha_{f^{(d)}})$$
.

Conversly, the map ξ_g is injective on $S_{\mathcal{R}_{\infty}}^{(Q_L)}(v)$, for every $v \in \mathcal{R}_{\infty}$ and $L \geq 1$. The set $\xi_g(S_{\mathcal{R}_{\infty}}^{(Q_L)}(v))$ is a $(Q_{L+K}, 1/4d)$ -separated subset of $X_{f^{(d)}}$, by Lemma 4.4 and Lemma 4.6. If $\bar{v} \in \mathcal{R}_{\infty}$ is given by

$$\bar{v}_{\mathbf{n}} = 2d - 1 \text{ for every } \mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$$

then $\left|\pi_{Q_L}(S_{\mathcal{R}_{\infty}}^{(Q_L)}(\bar{v}))\right| = \left|\pi_{Q_L}(\mathcal{R}_{\infty})\right|$, for every $L \geq 1$. For every $L \geq 0$ denote by n(L+K) the maximal size of a $(Q_{L+K}, 1/4d)$ -separated set in $\boldsymbol{X}_{f^{(d)}}.$ From the definition of topological entropy one gets that

$$\mathbf{h}(\sigma_{\mathcal{R}_{\infty}}) = \lim_{L \to \infty} \frac{1}{|Q_L|} \log \left| \pi_{Q_L}(\mathcal{R}_{\infty}) \right| = \lim_{L \to \infty} \frac{1}{|Q_L|} \log \left| S_{\mathcal{R}_{\infty}}^{(Q_L)}(\bar{v}) \right|$$

$$= \lim_{L \to \infty} \frac{1}{|Q_L|} \log \left| \xi_g(S_{\mathcal{R}_{\infty}}^{(Q_L)}(\bar{v})) \right| \le \lim_{L \to \infty} \frac{1}{|Q_L|} \log n(L + K)$$

$$= \lim_{L \to \infty} \frac{1}{|Q_{L+K}|} \log n(L + K) = \mathbf{h}(\alpha_f^{(d)}),$$

which completes the proof of the theorem.

It is still an unresolved problem whether the mappings from the recurrent configurations of the ASM to the harmonic model are almost one-to-one or not.

Bibliography

- [1] ALDOUS, David; LYONS, Russell: Processes on unimodular random networks. In: *Electron. J. Probab.* 12 (2007), S. no. 54, 1454-1508. URL http://www.emis.de/journals/EJP-ECP/_ejpecp/include/getdoc7e6a.pdf?id=4242&article=1754&mode=pdf
- [2] ALDOUS, David; STEELE, J. M.: The objective method: probabilistic combinatorial optimization and local weak convergence. In: *Probability on discrete structures* Bd. 110. Berlin: Springer, 2004, S. 1-72. URL http://www-stat.wharton.upenn.edu/~steele/Publications/PDF/TOMPCOaLWC.pdf
- [3] ATHREYA, S. R.; JÁRAI, A. A.: Erratum: "Infinite volume limit for the stationary distribution of abelian sandpile models" [Comm. Math. Phys. **249** (2004), no. 1, 197–213; MR2077255]. In: Comm. Math. Phys. 264 (2006), Nr. 3, S. 843. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00220-006-1557-0
- [4] ATHREYA, Siva R.; JÁRAI, Antal A.: Infinite volume limit for the stationary distribution of abelian sandpile models. In: Comm. Math. Phys. 249 (2004), Nr. 1, S. 197–213. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00220-004-1080-0
- [5] BENJAMINI, Itai; LYONS, Russell; PERES, Yuval; SCHRAMM, Oded: Group-invariant percolation on graph,s. In: *Geom. Funct. Anal.* 9 (1999), Nr. 1, S. 29–66. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s000390050080
- [6] BENJAMINI, Itai; LYONS, Russell; PERES, Yuval; SCHRAMM, Oded: Uniform spanning forests. In: *Ann. Probab.* 29 (2001), Nr. 1, S. 1-65. URL http://projecteuclid.org/getRecord?id=euclid.aop/1008956321
- [7] BENJAMINI, Itai; SCHRAMM, Oded: Recurrence of distributional limits of finite planar graphs. In: *Electron. J. Probab.* 6 (2001), S. no. 23, 13 pp. (electronic). URL http://www.math.washington.edu/~ejpecp/EjpVol6/paper23.abs.html
- [8] Bollobás, Béla: Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Bd. 184: Modern graph theory. New York: Springer-Verlag, 1998. xiv+394 S
- [9] Burton, R. M.; Keane, M.: Topological and metric properties of infinite clusters in stationary two-dimensional site percolation. In: *Israel J. Math.* 76 (1991), Nr. 3, S. 299–316. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF02773867
- [10] BURTON, Robert; PEMANTLE, Robin: Local characteristics, entropy and limit theorems for spanning trees and domino tilings via transfer-impedances. In: Ann. Probab. 21 (1993), Nr. 3, S. 1329-1371. URL http://links.jstor.org/sici?sici=0091-1798(199307)21: 3<1329:LCEALT>2.0.CO;2-L&origin=MSN
- [11] Deitmar, Anton; Echterhoff, Siegfried: *Principles of harmonic analysis*. New York: Springer, 2009 (Universitext). xvi+333 S
- [12] Deninger, Christopher; Schmidt, Klaus: Expansive algebraic actions of discrete residually finite amenable groups and their entropy. In: Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems 27 (2007), Nr. 3, S. 769–786. URL http://lanl.arxiv.org/pdf/math/0605723

- [13] FACK, Thierry; KOSAKI, Hideki: Generalized s-numbers of τ-measurable operators. In: Pacific J. Math. 123 (1986), Nr. 2, S. 269–300. URL http://projecteuclid.org/getRecord?id=euclid.pjm/1102701004
- [14] FEDER, Tomás; MIHAIL, Milena: Balanced matroids. In: STOC '92: Proceedings of the twenty-fourth annual ACM symposium on Theory of computing, URL http://doi.acm. org/10.1145/129712.129716, 1992
- [15] FUGLEDE, Bent; KADISON, Richard V.: Determinant theory in finite factors. In: Ann. of Math. (2) 55 (1952), S. 520-530. URL http://www.jstor.org/stable/1969645
- [16] Godsil, Chris; Royle, Gordon: Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Bd. 207: Algebraic graph theory. New York: Springer-Verlag, 2001. xx+439 S
- [17] HAAGERUP, Uffe; SCHULTZ, Hanne: Brown measures of unbounded operators affiliated with a finite von Neumann algebra. In: *Math. Scand.* 100 (2007), Nr. 2, S. 209–263. URL http://lanl.arxiv.org/pdf/math/0605251. ISSN 0025-5521
- [18] HÄGGSTRÖM, Olle: Random-cluster measures and uniform spanning trees. In: *Stochastic Process. Appl.* 59 (1995), Nr. 2, S. 267–275. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0304-4149(95)00042-6
- [19] Kadison, Richard V.; Ringrose, John R.: Fundamentals of the theory of operator algebras. Vol. IV. Boston, MA: Birkhäuser Boston Inc., 1992. i–xv and 274–859 S. Special topics, Advanced theory—an exercise approach
- [20] Kadison, Richard V.; Ringrose, John R.: Graduate Studies in Mathematics. Bd. 16: Fundamentals of the theory of operator algebras. Vol. II. Providence, RI: American Mathematical Society, 1997. i—xxii and 399—1074 S. Advanced theory, Corrected reprint of the 1986 original
- [21] Kaplansky, Irving: Fields and rings. The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill-London, 1969. ix+198 S
- [22] KIEFFER, J. C.: A generalized Shannon-McMillan theorem for the action of an amenable group on a probability space. In: *Ann. Probability* 3 (1975), Nr. 6, S. 1031-1037. URL http://projecteuclid.org/DPubS?service=UI&version=1.0&verb=Display&handle=euclid.aop/1176996230
- [23] LIND, Douglas; SCHMIDT, Klaus; WARD, Tom: Mahler measure and entropy for commuting automorphisms of compact groups. In: *Invent. Math.* 101 (1990), Nr. 3, S. 593–629. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF01231517
- [24] Lück, Wolfgang: Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics]. Bd. 44: L²-invariants: theory and applications to geometry and K-theory. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 2002. xvi+595 S
- [25] Lyons, Russell: Asymptotic enumeration of spanning trees. In: Combin. Probab. Comput. 14 (2005), Nr. 4, S. 491–522. URL http://lanl.arxiv.org/pdf/math/0212165
- [26] Lyons, Russell: Identities and inequalities for tree entropy. In: Combin. Probab. Comput. 19 (2010), Nr. 2, S. 303–313. URL http://lanl.arxiv.org/pdf/0712.3035

- [27] Lyons, Russell; Peres, Yuval: *Probability on Trees and Networks*. Cambridge University Press., In preparation- Version 6/2010. URL http://mypage.iu.edu/~rdlyons/
- [28] MEESTER, R.; REDIG, F.; ZNAMENSKI, D.: The abelian sandpile: a mathematical introduction. In: *Markov Process. Related Fields* 7 (2001), Nr. 4, S. 509–523. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/cond-mat/0301481
- [29] PEMANTLE, Robin: Choosing a spanning tree for the integer lattice uniformly. In: Ann. Probab. 19 (1991), Nr. 4, S. 1559–1574. URL http://links.jstor.org/sici?sici=0091-1798(199110)19:4<1559:CASTFT>2.0.CO;2-E&origin=MSN
- [30] Redig, F.: Mathematical aspects of the abelian sandpile model (Lecture Notes). (2005). URL http://www.math.leidenuniv.nl/~redig/sandpilelectures.pdf
- [31] Salvatori, Maura: On the norms of group-invariant transition operators on graphs. In: *J. Theoret. Probab.* 5 (1992), Nr. 3, S. 563–576
- [32] SCHMIDT, Klaus: Progress in Mathematics. Bd. 128: Dynamical systems of algebraic origin. Basel: Birkhäuser Verlag, 1995. xviii+310 S
- [33] SCHMIDT, Klaus; VERBITSKIY, Evgeny: Abelian sandpiles and the harmonic model. In: Comm. Math. Phys. 292 (2009), Nr. 3, S. 721-759. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00220-009-0884-3
- [34] Sheffield, Scott: Uniqueness of maximal entropy measure on essential spanning forests. In: Ann. Probab. 34 (2006), Nr. 3, S. 857–864. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1214/009117905000000765
- [35] SOARDI, Paolo; WOESS, Wolfgang: Amenability, unimodularity, and the spectral radius of random walks on infinite graphs. In: *Math. Zeitschrift* 205 (1990), S. 471-486. URL http://www.math.tugraz.at/~woess/papers/unimod.pdf
- [36] STRASSEN, V.: The existence of probability measures with given marginals. In: Ann. Math. Statist. 36 (1965), S. 423-439. URL http://projecteuclid.org/DPubS?service=UI&version=1.0&verb=Display&handle=euclid.aoms/1177700153
- [37] Weiss, Benjamin: Monotileable amenable groups. In: Topology, ergodic theory, real algebraic geometry Bd. 202. Amer. Math. Soc., 2001, S. 257–262

Curriculum Vitae

Persönliche Daten:

Name: Martin Göll

Geburtsdatum: 22.03.1985

Geburtsort: Wien, Österreich

Staatsbürgerschaft: österreichisch

Ausbildung:

Volksschule: Volksschule Ada Christen Gasse, 1100 Wien;

1991 - 1995

Gymnasium: BG, BRG und BORG Pichelmayergasse, 1100 Wien;

1995 - 2003

Studium der Physik: Universität Wien;

Okt.2003 - Okt.2004 und Okt.2005 -

Studium Mathematik/Physik(LA): Universität Wien;

Okt. 2003 - Okt. 2004 und Okt. 2005 - März
 2009

(ohne Abschluss)

Studium der Mathematik Universität Wien;

März 2006 - Sep.2010 (Anzahl der Semester: 9)

Wien, 24.08.2010